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We are a Mexico based coMpany With a considerable 
international presence dedicated to the sale and distribution 
of value added industrial inputs, a business in Which We service 
a broad array of sectors including Water treatMent, Mining, 
the food and autoMotive industries, oil exploration and 
drilling, personal care, cleaning and sanitation products, 

MetalWorking and dozens of other industries.

our stock trades on the Mexico stock exchange 
(bMv) under the ticker

pochtec. 
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financial data 

2016 2015 % variation

Sales 6,139 6,079 1% 

Gross Income 1,075 1,106 -3%

Gross Margin (%) 17.5% 18.2% -70bp

Operating Income 116 223 -48%

Operating Margin 1.9% 3.7% -180bp

Depreciation 132 118 12%

EBITDA 248 341 -27%

EBITDA Margin (%) 4.0% 5.6% -160bp

Financial Expense 81 99 -18%

Forex Gain (Loss) (50) (94) -47%

Pre-tax Income (15) 30 NC

Net Income (Loss) (6) 34 NC

Net Debt/ EBITDA 12M 2.9x 1.6x

EBITDA/ Interest 12M 2.6x 3.0x
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dear shareholders,

2016 proved to be the most complicated year we have had 
at Pochteca in a very long time. Several of our main market 
sectors suffered major contractions, and we experienced a 
deflationary environment for most of the products we sell. 

One of the main adversities we encountered in 2016 was the 
erosion of industrial activity in Brazil. Specifically, the declines 
in industrial output of 3.2% in 2014, 8% in 2015, and 6.6% in 
2016 have led to a major reduction in demand for our products.

Moreover, the considerable revaluation of the Brazilian real 
negatively affected Coremal’s margins as inventories acquired  
at higher dollar exchange rates had to be sold at a lower 
exchange rates.

A second factor that negatively affected our earnings was a 
generalized deflation of our product prices. Prices for corn and 
milk derivatives, mining inputs and petroleum derivatives have 
been declining in recent years such as the more than 50% 
drop in petroleum derivative prices in just the past two years. 
This deflation greatly alters the profitability of many products 
so that even if logistical, packaging and shipping costs are 
not greater in absolute terms, they increase significantly as a 
percentage of the gross margin and the sales price.

A third factor was a drop in demand for inputs in the oil 
exploration and drilling sector. Between June 2012 and the 
end of 2016, the number of active rigs in Mexico, Brazil and 
the United States decreased 82%, 87% and 68%, according 
to data published by Baker Hughes on line. While our product 
and industry diversification allowed us to offset part of 

letter to shareholders

the reduction in sales to the petroleum industry, it was not 
possible to completely compensate for those losses as this 
sector is our most important sales segment.

Lastly, we also experienced a negative effect on the level 
of mining –previously our second most important market, 

G4-DMA ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE

G4-1, G4-2

after oil and gas– as mineral product prices have fallen 
considerably in recent years and, as a result, so have mining 
inputs prices and volumes.

In contrast to the strong results we reported for 2015, 
during 2016 we achieved only a slight 1% increase in sales, 
which totaled Ps 6.14 billion. The gross margin narrowed 
70bp as it fell from 18.2% to 17.5%. Operating income 
experienced a  sharp 48% contraction to Ps 116 million. 
EBITDA fell 27% to Ps 248 million pesos.

In Mexico, we have yet to see signs of a recovery in sectors 
that are of key importance to Pochteca such as mining as 
well as oil exploration and drilling, so we have focused our 
efforts on other markets offering growth opportunities. In 
Brazil, industrial production has undergone a severe decline 
and we do not anticipate a significant recovery in the near 
term although there appears to be a consensus that the 
worst has passed.

In an effort to mitigate risks and strengthen our earnings 
margins, in 2016 we introduced several initiatives directed 
at bolstering our competitiveness and expanding our cash 
position. As a result, we have: 

 • Modified the company’s corporate structure to lower 
its operating expenses and more efficiently align the 
commercial area with that of operations. 
 • Intensified our diversification toward blends and higher 
value added products, which protects us from price 
fluctuations. 
 • Sought to lower our working capital days in order 
to increase liquidity and achieve growth using fewer 
resources.
 • Invested in systems focused on raising productivity and 
achieving a more efficient management of our customer 
and product bases. 

We trust that these initiatives will pay off in 2017.

One favorable element within this enduring complex 
environment is that oil prices appear to have bottomed and in 
past months have embarked on an uptrend. Recently this has 
begun to translate into higher prices for some oil derivatives. 

We are confident that our customer and product 
diversification strategy will allow us to shield sales and 
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margins from much of the price deflation of recent years, as 
well as from the intense competition generated by the sharp 
downturn in the oil, gas and mining sectors. 

Our net debt totaled Ps 728 million at the end of 2016,  
Ps 174 million or 31% more than in 2015. On the one 
hand, Coremal’s net debt increased 7% in reais, from 
46.8 million to 49.9 million. The peso/real exchange rate 
depreciated 45% during the same period from 4.36 to 6.33 
pesos per real, so Coremal’s net debt increased 55% in 
pesos, rising from Ps 204 million to Ps 316 million. On the 
other hand, during 2016 we amortized bank debt in Mexico 
for Ps 140 million.

Pochteca’s Net Debt / EBITDA closed 2016 at 2.9 times, 
up from 1.6 times at the end of 2015. This latest level is 
above our internal policy of restraining debt to no more 
than 2 times and is the result of weaker EBITDA than 
had been expected, as well as a rise in debt in Brazil as 
expressed in pesos resulting from the real’s revaluation. We 
are confident that with the reduced expense levels achieved 
with our corporate restructuring, the gradual recovery in 
Brazil, and the absence of the non-recurring expenses of 
2016, our EBITDA will recover to better than 2015 levels, 
and that this metric will return to our target range levels.

sustainability
At Pochteca we are making efficient use of natural, 
economic and social resources in ways that conform to  
our commitment to sustainability.

Our Integrated Management System (IMS) is the basis for 
assuring the successful realization of our financial objectives 
and growth targets while complying with the national and 
international standards that we have voluntarily adopted. 
Similarly, our secure and world class custody chain adds 
value to the raw material producers (our suppliers) and 
chemical products users (our clients).

We will also continue to endeavor to establish performance 
indicators that allow us to measure and control product 
safety, occupational health, quality and safety risks and 
environmental impact risks.

We are well prepared to continue handling challenges such 
as those we encountered in 2016. We are confident that 
with our capable and committed personnel we can regain 
our profitability and strengthen our financial position. 

We wish to recognize and thank our shareholders, 
colleagues, clients, suppliers, and financial institutions for  
the support they gave us during 2016.

Ricardo Gutiérrez Muñoz
Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Armando Santacruz González
Chief Executive Officer 

G4-EC2
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about our coMpany 

business segMents

• Inorganic chemicals 
• Solvents and blends 
• Chemicals for the food 

industry 
• Lubricants and greases
• Paper and cardboard 

branches

30 Mexico
3 Central America
8 Brazil

laboratories

7 quality control 
5 research and 
application development

industrial sectors

• Automotive industry
• Oil exploration and 

drilling
• Metal-mechanic industry
• Mining
• Food 

+ than 6,500 products

+ than 308,000 m2 of 
logistics capacity 

+ than 19.8 million liters 
of storage capacity 

G4-4, G4-6, G4-8

18,000 active customers

+ 296,000 purchase 
orders 

345,000 tons delivered 
during the year



Market presence

Branches

Sales offices

Mexico

Central America

Brazil
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business strategy

coMpetitive advantages 

Our 5 main customers = 5.6% from sales

Our 5 main products = 7. 5% from sales

custody chain 

Our world class, secure custody chain differentiates us 
from the rest of the industry. We are the only company in 
Latin America with RDP (Responsible Distribution Process) 
certification from the NACD (National Association of 
Chemical Distributors). Our management system, has been 
evaluated and approved by ANIQ (National Association of 
Chemical Industries, A.C.) as guaranteeing security in our 
custody chain, thereby enabling us to use the association’s 
SARI seal of approval. We also have FSC® (Forest 
Stewardship Council) and ISO-9001-2008 certification.

We implement best practices that are continuously audited 
by clients and suppliers.

diversification

Our diversification of customers, products, industries, 
regions, channels and suppliers is the key to our commercial 
strategy and has been a major risk mitigation factor. 
This has allowed us to protect sales and margins while 
differentiating ourselves from the competition. By the same 
token, each of our business segments attends to dozens  
of industries.

G4-8
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Portfolio by 
segment

(% of consolidated 
sales)

Percent of sales 
by region

(Mexico)

Percent of sales 
by Geography 

(Americas)

% of sales 2016 % of sales 2015

Customer 1 1.6% 1.7%

Customer 2 1.2% 1.0%

Customer 3 1.1% 1.0%

Customer 4 0.9% 1.0%

Customer 5 0.8% 0.9%

 Total 5.6% 5.6%

% of sales 2016 % of sales 2015

Product 1 2.5% 2.0%

Product 2 1.3% 1.4%

Product 3 1.3% 1.2%

Product 4 1.2% 1.1%

Product 5 1.2% 1.0%

Total 7.5% 6.7%

Chemicals

Solvents and 
Blends

Food

Central

West

Northeast

Center-South

Mexico

Brazil

Central America

Lubricants 
and greases

Paper

Southeast

Bajio

Lubricants

44%

26%

70%

20%

14%

12%

11% 26%

10%

7% 4%

19%

19%

9%

9%

G4-8

15



operating and financial  
perforMance

Three main factors led to the 
weakening of our results, especially 
on the levels of gross income (-3%), 
gross margin (-70bp), operating income 
(-48%) and EBITDA (-27%).

The first one is the deterioration of 
industrial activity in Brazil, which in 
each of the past three years decreased 
at 12 month rates of: 3.2% in 2014, 
8% in 2015, and 6.6% in 2016. 
This situation has adversely affected 
Pochteca’s operations in Brazil and led 
to a sharp reduction in demand for our 
products given that industrial activity 
is the main sales driver of our Brazil 
business. 

Market outlook 
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It is also important to note that 
Brazil’s GDP weakened considerably 
after Pochteca acquired Coremal 
in December 2013. The country’s 
economy grew a mere 0.5% in 2014 
and then fell 3.8% in 2015 and by 
3.5% in 2016.

Secondly, there is the recession in 
the oil and gas industry that extends 
to both Mexico and Brazil. According 
to data published on line by Baker 
Hughes, the number of active rigs in 
the United States, Mexico and Brazil 
continued to fall significantly during 
2016 with declines of 18%, 51%  
and 66%, respectively.

Brazil
Mexico
USA
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Moreover, the number of active rigs in 
Mexico has fallen from a peak of 120 
at the beginning of 2013 by almost 
84%, leaving only 19 operating at the 
end of 2016. During that same period 
the contraction was 82% in Brazil 
and 63% in the USA. Oil exploration 
and drilling activity is a key sector 

WEST TEXAS oiL (WTi) pRiCES 
(SEpTEmBER 2013 = 100)

for Pochteca, and we do not foresee 
a recovery in either the near or 
intermediate terms.

The third negative factor has been 
price deflation in the case of most  
of the products we sell.

However, amid the continuing 
complexities of the environment 
we are faced with, one favorable 
development was the recovery of oil 
prices, which increased 45% between 
2015 and 2016 from US37.04 to 
USD53.72 per barrel. It is important 
to mention that we have witnessed 
recently upward movement in the 
prices of some products, including 
petroleum derivatives.
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integrated ManageMent 
and sustainability  
systeM

Pochteca has an Integrated Management System (IMS) that 
works as a base for our company’s strategy as it allows us 
to translate into operation, controls and indicators of each 
of the elements of our culture.

integrated ManageMent systeM policy

At Pochteca, we focus on prevention and continuous 
improvement, to meet the needs and expectations of our 
clients, and to attain our financial and growth goals, while 
making sure we fulfill each of our 4 sustainability pillars.

1. Our People: We look after their well-being, health 
and safety, offering a fair treatment in keeping 
with the law.

 . 
  
2. Environment: We have concrete goals to reduce 

our environmental footprint and preserve resour-
ces, for future generations.

  
  
3. Supply Chain: We strive to steadily reduce our 

operating expenses, minimizing risks throughout our 
supply chain, sharing our principles and values with 
our business partners.

 

4. Community: We act in accordance with our 
values, supporting communities and helping them 
build a culture of responsibility, cooperation and 
respect for the rules.
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 • Safety and compliance 
 • Austerity and frugality 
 • Open and dynamic communication 
 • Honesty and best practices 

 • Focus on results and continuous 
improvement 
 • Passion for growth 
 • Vocation of service 
 • Sustainability

Mission

vision

coMMitMents

Sustainability and safety: Integrated Management System

values

Operating 
efficiency and 
secure custody 

chain

Financial 
strength

Commercial 
excellence

Talent 
excellence

G4-56
For the purpose of identifying those 
material aspects of our operations, that 
impact our stakeholders and must be 
included in our sustainability report, 
in 2016 we undertook a Materiality 
Study that was conducted by an 
external consultant. That study took 
as its point of reference, a benchmark 
between the maturity of major 
companies in the sector dedicated 
to the specialized distribution of 
consumer chemical products, and the 
risk characterized by sectorial and 
social regulations –whether legally 
binding or voluntary– for economic, 
social and environmental matters.

The study included a review of public 
information from the four major 
companies in the sector dedicated 
to the distribution of specialized 
consumer chemical products, four 

Materiality

sectorial and four social institutions. 
The aspects and indicators that were 
reported on included information 
regarding our operations in Mexico, 
unless otherwise specified.

our stakeholders

We have identified our stakeholders, 
from the point of strategic planning, 
and maintain commitments, with each 
one of them.

With our clients:
We provide them with services in 
addition to the sale of products, such as:
 • Training in safety requirements and 
regulations for product handling
 • Safety evaluations and 
recommendations on installations  
and infrastructure 
 • Advisory services on product 

uses and functionality through our 
application laboratories
 • Post sales service 
 • Sustainable product alternatives 

 »FSC certified paper
 »Sugar substitutes 
 »Low sodium materials
 »Used-solvent recycling 
 »Biodegradable materials  

With our associates:
 • Strict labor compliance 
 • Agreements with suppliers of goods 
and services that set preferential 
conditions and prices 
 • Policy regarding home office and 
flexible hours
 • Oriéntame line
 • Participation of our associates’ 
children in a drawing competition 
about a safe environment 

G4-17, G4-18, G4-19, G4-20, G4-21, G4-22, G4-23

G4-24, G4-25, G4-26, G4-27
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With society in general:

 • Participation in mutual aid groups
 • Training in schools and institutions
 • Donations to communities

 »We support the Kardias Foundation’s race every year 
through donations from our associates 

 • Annual donations to government agencies and non profit 
institutions
 »Donations from our collaborators to Julian Foundation 
 »Donations of equipment and material to firemen for  
their drills
 »Donation of equipment to Cruz Roja (Red Cross)
 »Donation of office supplies to DIARQ
 »Economic donation to Fundasida

With our suppliers:
 • We share best practices
 • We evaluate performance
 • We identify and collaborate areas of opportunity in our 
supply chain

With our competitors:
 • Honest and professional competition
 • We share best practices through the associations 
and groups we belong to: ANIQ, CANACAR, AMEDIR, 
ANAFAPYT, AIVAC Y CANACINTRA, México Unido  
contra la Delincuencia (Mexico United Against Crime)

With our shareholders and commercial partners:
 • Loyalty and competitive return on investment

G4-15

G4-16
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pochteca: a huMan focus

our people

In order to provide our associates 
a safe, professional and equitable 
working environment, we have 
focused our efforts on working with 
various programs and tools that favor 
proper growth and improvements in 
professional development.  

Pe
op

le Community

En
vir

on
ment

Supply chain

sustainability strategy

As a sustainable company we comply 
with applicable regulations, and assure 
that our products are of the best 
quality, and adhere to the highest 
sustainability standards. We have 
established the following guidelines 
for reaffirming our commitment, as 

well as regulations, policies, manuals 
and procedures for guaranteeing their 
fulfillment.

ethics and integrity

Through the transparency line 
mechanism, which all our associates, 
customers, suppliers and surrounding 
communities can access, and, who 
are also regularly reminded of its 
existence, we receive complaints 
regarding any deviation of our 
associates from our Code of Ethics,  
to whom we are all committed.   

code of ethics 
 • Integrity and equality of all people
 • Upright conduct
 • Leadership with respect
 • Truthful information
 • Proper use of tools
 • Confidentiality
 • Fair treatment
 • Discretion

The complaints are handled by an 
independent company, and evaluated 
by the Ethics Committee, to develop 
the appropriate action plans.

Respect and 
care for the 
environment

Ethical 
relationship with 
our customers 
and suppliers

Inclusion and 
equality in job 
opportunities

Safety and 
respect for 

our associates, 
clients and 
suppliers

Safety for the 
communities 
in which we 

operate

G4-LA16, G4-HR3, G4-HR12, G4-SO11

G4-DMA LABOR PRACTICES GRIEVANCE MECHANISMS

G4-56, G4-LA16, G4-HR3, G4-HR12, G4-SO11
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The results of this complaints in 2016 were:

We received 31 complaints and one follow up case.

58%

13%

7%

4%

3%

3%

3%
3%

3% 3%

Category
58% of the complaints were associated with 
Employee Harassment (18/31) 

Means of contact
61% were received through the Web Page 
(19/31)

Anonymity
77% of the complaints were presented 
anonymously (24/31)

New cases
97% of the complaints were New Cases (31/32)
97% of the complaints were made by employees 
(30/31)

Receipt by day of week
29% of the complaints were received on a  
Thursday (9/31)

1

2

3

4

5

Related 
categories

Employee harassment - 18

Breach of policy - 4

Conflicts of interest - 2

Labor negligence - 1

Unfair competition - 1

Discrimination - 1

Violation of laws or official regulations - 1

Bribery - 1

Unethical benefits or treatment with 
suppliers - 1

Customer complaints (Service/Treatment 
by Personnel) - 1

The complaints by category are:G4-LA6

G4-SO7

Based on our analysis of these reports, 
we have introduced training plans to 
strengthen knowledge and application 
of the code of ethics, policies and 
procedures among all our personnel, and 
leadership workshops for all employees 
with managerial responsibilities.

Operating in strict adherence to our 
values and code of ethics is a basic 
principal for Pochteca, and we transmit 
this information to all employees at 
the time they are hired, and regularly 
reinforce it after that.

In keeping with this principle, and in 
strict accordance with the law, we 
allocated the resources necessary to 
disclose and follow the appropriate 
legal channels regarding a case of 
corruption in Quintana Roo, involving an 
apocryphal labor lawsuit that was used 
to justify the freezing of more than Ps 
4 million in company bank accounts.

This case, which is still under way, 
exposed a network of corruption 
among local conciliation and arbitration 
boards that had operated under the 
previous government of that entity.

92% of the company’s senior 
management is native to Mexico City, 
where they also perform their duties.

In all the regions where we are present, 
our personnel’s wages are above the 

official minimum set by the National 
Minimum Wage Commission. The range 
of salaries depends on the type of 
position and each person’s qualifications.  
In no cases are these wages determined 
on the basis of gender, age, ethnic origin 
or social condition.

Workforce

We make sure that all of our associates 
may take maternity leave in compliance 
with local regulations, and in keeping 
with Mexico’s Federal Labor Law, we 
guarantee an employees’ right to return 
to work post maternity leave. We also 
provide facilities for them to extend 
such leaves through a combination of 
flextime and time spent working from 
home as they resume their duties. To 
that end we have made substantial 
investments in infrastructure and 
equipment to assure employees have 
connectivity with their jobs at all times. 
Equipment availability is as follows:
 • 38% with portable computers
 • 60% with cellphones

Furthermore, we have upgraded voice 
and data connections as follows:
 • VOIP telephone service that with call 
forwarding between the employees’ 
office extension and their portable 
computer
 • Being able to securely access their 
information from anywhere by means 
of a VPN.
 • Cloud-based information access 

services, for example using our  
internal communication system, called 
“PochtecaNet.”
 • We consider our support for 
employees with newborn children a 
complement to our actions in favor  
of gender equity.

Maternity leave numbers 

Maternity leaves 9

Total number of women 294

Percentage 3%

Resuming work after maternity leave 

Maternity leaves 9

Number who returned 
to work 

8

Percentage 89%

G4-DMA MARKET PRESENCE

G4-EC5, G4-EC6

G4-DMA EMPLOYMENT, G4-EC6

G4-LA3

G4-DMA ANTI-CORRUPTION

G4-SO3, G4-SO4, G4-SO5
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Workers and their representatives are routinely given four 
weeks’ notice, before the company introduces significant  
operating changes that may substantially affect them.

Our collective bargaining contract specifies that negotiations 
are conducted in December of each year.

Company Female Male Total

Asesoría en Servicios 
Pochteca

142 252 394

Demser, S.A. de C.V. 50 105 155

Pochteca Servicios 
Administrativos

82 117 199

Pochteca Servicios 
Corporativos

4 12 16

Servicios 
Administrativos 
Argostal

16 198 214

Transportadora de 
Líquidos y Derivados

64 64

Total 294 748 1042

Company
Determined Indefinite

Total
F M F M

Asesoría en Servicios 
Pochteca

16 37 126 215 394

Demser, S.A. de C.V. 9 8 41 97 155

Pochteca Servicios 
Administrativos

14 12 68 105 199

Pochteca Servicios 
Corporativos

4 12 16

Servicios 
Administrativos 
Argostal

3 40 13 158 214

Transportadora de 
Líquidos y Derivados

15 49 64

Total 42 112 252 636 1042

Company

Non-
unionized Unionized

Total
F M F M

Asesoría en Servicios 
Pochteca

142 252   394

Demser, S.A. de C.V. 50 105 155

Pochteca Servicios 
Administrativos

82 117 199

Pochteca Servicios 
Corporativos

4 12 16

Servicios 
Administrativos 
Argostal

13 113 3 85 214

Transportadora de 
Líquidos y Derivados

19 45 64

Total 291 618 3 130 1042

nuMber of eMployees by eMployMent 
contract and gender

nuMber of perManent eMployees by type 
of contract and gender

size of the Workforce by eMployees, 
Workers and gender

G4-LA4

G4-9, G4-10

Region Women Men Total

Aguascalientes 1  1

Cancun 1 5 6

Chihuahua 1 1 2

Ciudad Juarez 1 3 4

Ciudad Obregon 1 3 4

Corporate Tacubaya 12 11 23

Cuernavaca 1 1

Culiacan 2 2 4

Guadalajara 4 11 15

Hermosillo 1

Leon 1 9 10

Leon Recuperadora 8 8

Merida 1 1

Minatitlan 5 5

Monterrey 4 9 13

Pachuca 1 1

Puebla 2 6 8

Queretaro 3 4 7

Reynosa 2 1 3

Region Women Men Total

San Jose 3 42 45

San Juan 13 17 30

San Luis Potosi 3 5 8

Tampico 1 1 2

Tijuana 3 3

Toluca 1 3 4

Tuxtla 1 2 3

Vallejo 7 13 20

Veracruz 2 6 8

Villahermosa 2 2

Total 66 176 242

hiring breakdoWn, by region and gender 

Company
Unionized

Total
Female Male

Servicios 
Administrativos 
Argostal

3 85 214

Transportadora de 
Líquidos y Derivados

45 64

Total 3 130 278

G4-LA1

G4-11
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All of our associates receive a life insurance policy and are 
enrolled in social security in keeping with established labor 
rights. No additional benefits are offered.

At Pochteca we are firmly dedicated to promoting equal 
opportunities, a commitment that is backed by our Code of 
Ethics, and our “transparency line”.

Senior Executives
Women Men 

25% 75%

Categories Women Men

Less than 30 107 229

Between 30 and 50 157 405

More than 50 30 114

Total 294 748

Salary differences between men and women persist 
nationwide. At present men earn 10% more on average than 
women. The goal is to gradually reduce this disparity. For 
that reason our compensation strategy includes the objective 
of basing remunerations on the associate or candidate’s 
competency while assuring that gender does not enter into 
the evaluation equation.

occupational health and safety

Results from our health and safety plan for 2016 show 
no heightened work-related health risks or trends on the 
part of our associates. The risk evaluation includes those 
to health, so our investment in personnel protection 
equipment and training in the proper use of loading and 
unloading equipment and techniques is helping to avoid 
work related sickness and injuries.

We invested Ps 1.5 million in 2016 on personal protection 
equipment for all our associates in keeping with the risk 
involved in each type of work.

We also operate the “Orienta” support line, which allows us 
to improve our associates’ quality of life.

G4-LA2

G4-LA12

G4-DMA EQUAL REMUNERATION FOR WOMEN AND MEN

G4-LA13

G4-DMA OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

G4-LA7, G4-LA8

What follows is a brief overview of the type of attention provided in 2016:

Type of user

Relative 9%

Employee 91%

Gender

Male 28%

Female 72%

Type of session

First time 72%

Follow-up 28%

Productivity

Yes 76%

No 24%

Type of need

Family economy 3%

Legal 23%

Emotional 46%

Nutritional 6%

Medical 22%

Service references

Electronic 
material 74% Partner 4%

Printed 
material 22% Talk -

Boss /
Supervisor -

Rate of use for the period

30%

People who used service

281

Online visits to Orienta-me

117

According to the EAPA (Employee Assistance Professionals Association), an international organization for em-
ployee assistance professionals that helps regulate employee assistance programs, a healthy rate of employee 
usage of EAP (Employee Assistance Programs) is between 8% and 10%. Our 30% rate during the year is far 
above the average rate.

general report
Comprehensive data
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safety

We maintain health and safety commissions in each  
workplace, in compliance with Mexico’s Federal Labor Law. 
Approximately 10% of our entire personnel are engaged  
in these commissions.

Brigades receive training each year in:
 • Firefighting
 • First aid
 • Evacuation

Every six months we go through a process of creating  
brigades, assigning responsibilities and conducting  
emergency drills, all of which are duly documented.

Since 2013, we have been strengthening our health and 
safety strategy through training, supervision and monitoring, 
as well as by raising safety awareness among our personnel 
both within and outside our facilities.

Accidents this year were as follows:

Fatalities Time off No time off Commuting

ACCiDEnTS

30

35

25

20

15

10

5

0
0 1 1 1 12 23

0 0

4

9 8

29 29 30

2013
2014
2015
2016

Our incidence rate per 100 full-time employees remains well 
below the US Occupational Health and Safety Administration 
(OSHA) maximum level of 3.0.

Year
Accident rate in operation areas per 
100 hours of full-time employees

2013 1.381

2014 0.418

2015 0.650

2016 1.166

101 disability days in 2016

G4-LA5

G4-LA6

By job category 

Administrative 58%

Directors 75%

Managers 67%

Head of department 68%

Operational 41%

Sales 66%

By gender

Male 44%

Female 84%

training

During 2016 we conducted 85 training 
programs by specialization, lasting a 
total of 287.25 hours. These programs 
were conducted through various media 
depending on the type of program.
a. Virtually through Pochteca Virtual 

University (UVP in Spanish)
b. On site, within the company
c. On site outside the company 

Through what we call the Pochteca 
Development Potential tool (DPP 
in Spanish) our associates receive 
periodic evaluations with objectives 
established at the beginning of the 
year. A feedback session is conducted 
at mid-year and the final evaluation is 
provided at year’s end.

The following table provides a  
breakdown of 2016 evaluation results:

safety personnel, 30% of whom  
received formal training in Human Rights 
issues while participating in courses on:
 • Our Code of Ethics
 • Internal policies and procedures
 • SEDEX requirements
 • TFS requirements

evaluation

40% of our employees have been 
the subject of sustainability audits 
through programs like SEDEX (Supplier 
Ethical Data Exchange), TFS (Together 
for Sustainability), or responsibility 
evaluations required by our clients  
or suppliers.

G4-DMA TRAINING AND EDUCATION 

G4-LA10 

G4-LA11, G4-HR2 G4-DMA ASSESSMENT

G4-HR7, G4-HR9

We employ a 50-member security staff, 
including security guards and industrial  
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pochteca: a sustainable approach 

At Pochteca we are concerned about the environmental 
problems facing our planet. As a result, we work day to day 
to mitigate the risks that our operations might pose while 
also looking for preventative measures.

Our work is aligned with both national and international 
environmental protection standards. This is why our 
operations are conducted in accordance with necessary 
regulations. These obligations are considered part of the 
controls, monitoring and reports included in our Integrated 
Management System nationwide.  

biodiversity
 

Our facilities are located in industrial parks where land is 
zoned for the commercial activity we engage in, and in none 
of them, conditions have been established for biodiversity 
conservation.

Furthermore, our Environmental Risk Assessments (ERA), 
spell out the types of flora and fauna that could be affect in 
the event of a contingency. However, based on recommen-
dations from Pochteca’s Accident Prevention Program (APP), 
operational and infrastructural controls are established, in 
cases where harm to biodiversity could be generated. 

As a precautionary measure, we maintain environmental 
liability and risk insurance coverage to cover for anywhere 
between US 1.5 to 3 million in environmental damages.

our planet
G4-DMA MATERIALS, G4-DMA PRODUCTS AND SERVICES, G4-DMA ENERGY

G4-EN27, G4-EN31, G4-EN34

G4-DMA BIODIVERSITY

G4- EN11, G4-EN12, G4-EN13, G4-EN14 
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Water

The solvent recovery process requires 
the use of deionised water in the 
distillation process. For this purpose 
we have at our disposal five units 
that require 300 liters of water per 
unit. It has not been necessary to 
reload them since we deployed the 
first such equipment in 2014 as each 
unit has a vapor recovery system 
that re-condenses the water used and 
maintains the required levels without 
the need to refill them.  

We also use a cooling tower to service 
the five units. The tower requires 700 
liters of water, and since the tower 
was put into operation it has not been 
necessary to refill its container.

So far we have had no need for our 
own water harvesting system. The 
water supply for all of our facilities 
except that of Cancun comes from 
municipal waterlines or from the 
purchase of tanker truckloads of 
water. Only the Cancun facility has its 
own well because it only uses that 
resource for its sanitation needs. Year 
over year, we are within the level of 
water consumption authorized by 
Mexico’s National Water Commission 
(CONAGUA).

The residual water that we generate 
derives exclusively from sanitation 
services except for one plant whose 
drum washing operations demands a 
water treatment plant, for which we 
conduct annual studies to assume 
that the discharge parameters are in 
keeping with applicable regulatory 
standards. 

Container Number of pieces

Bucket 2,954

Jug 6,236

Drum 9,794

Tote 244

Total 19,228

G4-DMA WATER

G4-EN8, G4-EN9, G4-EN10 energy

Aspect 2016 Results

Diesel

5% savings from the substitution of 21 
transportation units.

Improvement in the logistics process, 
compliance with prevention maintenance 
programs.

Adoption of the freight tool in SAP.

Gasoline

15% savings by card use per unit with 
mileage control.

Compliance with prevention maintenance.

Electricity
7% decrease in consumption through 
operations optimization.

Water

Slight decrease of 1% because the  
expense of this resource does not depend 
on the operation but on the use of general 
services.

G4-EN6, G4-EN7

recycling

By washing the metal drums in our 
San Jose and Minatitlan plants, we 
were able to reuse 89% of them at an 
effective rate of 4.49 turns per drum. 
Previously used wood pallets, are 
purchased and reconditioned locally 
as part of our commitment to reuse 
materials. The effective rate of re-use 
was 78%.

Because of the nature of the products 
we sell, the only containers that are 
recoverable are drums and jugs. For 
these, we have a special recovery 
process for washing them on the 
premises -when this process is 
enabled- or we outsource the washing 
process to suppliers who have the 
necessary facilities.

G4-EN2

G4-EN7

Materials

Below is a list of the materials used for 
packaging and storage:

G4-DMA MATERIALS

G4-EN1, G4-EN28

In relation to 2015, we achieved the following energy 
reductions:
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eMissions

For the first time we made an estimate 
of the CO2 emissions generated 
by our processes. This calculation 
was limited to our consumption of 
electricity, gasoline and diesel, as well 
as mobile sources as our process 
consists exclusively of storage and 
distribution, so emissions are generated 
by transportation units and not by 
processing equipment, which is to say 
fixed sources.

Result: We calculate that 
714 Ton of CO2 was 
generated in 2016.

Result: The SEMARNAT limit 
is 25,000 annual Tons of CO2, 
our reading was 1,054 Tons 

Result: The generation of CO2 
from direct electrical energy 
sources was 437 Tons.

To arrive at these values, we employed 
the emissions calculator of the National 
Emissions Registry (RENE) published by 
Mexico’s Ministry of the Environment 
and Natural Resources (SEMARNAT). 
Through these calculations, we were 
able to observe that the emissions level 
of our operations remain well below the 
limit established by the authorities for 
mandatory presentation of an Annual 
Operating License for producers of 
atmospheric emissions.  

Because we do not have any 
industrial processes in which heating, 
refrigeration or steam are required, 
there is no need for the calculation of 
indirect greenhouse gas emissions.
 
We have 93 company cars assigned to 
executives and sales representative, and 
62 transportation vehicles. To guarantee 
proper operation and compliance with 
the applicable environmental regulations, 
we keep service records on all our 
vehicles and have a policy on switching 
out vehicles after a certain period of 
use or mileage; we also assign gasoline 
cards to control consumption. 

These efforts include:
1. Upgrading the vehicles we use for 

transporting hazardous materials to 

newer vehicles with higher fuel yield 
and ecological efficiency.

2. Optimizing logistical processes to  
reduce travel mileage, making a more 
efficient use of our transportation 
vehicles.

In 2016, we acquired 29 Nitro-Strike 
Fire Suppression Systems, which are 
able to put out any kind of chemical 
fire in less than 5 minutes. The system 
extinguishes any trace of hazardous 
residue and prevents fires from restarting. 
This equipment was installed in 14 sites 
susceptible to fire hazard. 

G4-DMA EMMISIONS

G4–EN15

G4-EN19

G4-EN16, G4-EN17

G4-EN20

effluents and Waste

Within our operations, we generate hazardous wastes in  
connection with: 
 • Maintenance processes
 • Replacement or breakdown of machinery and equipment
 • Non-compliant product
 • Packing and wrapping material
 • General services

In all these cases, the waste is disposed of responsibly, in  
keeping with applicable SEMARNAT laws.

During handling of materials, containers or packages may be 
breached or broken, product may be non-compliant or other 
emergencies may arise. This is why, our facilities are rated 
“small generators” of hazardous waste, and only three of our 
plans are rated “large generators.”  None of these facilities  
surpassed the maximum limits established for the category.  
We generated a total of 200 tons of hazardous waste in 2016.

In order to reduce the amount of non-hazardous waste we 
produce, we also have systems for monetizing the following 
types of waste: 
 • Sale of scrap containers: 111,657 units
 • Waste paper, cardboard, plastic and wood from containers 
and wrapping, sold to recycling companies: 657 Tons.
 • Collection of office paper: 3 Tons.
 • Recycled computer equipment: 111 computers, 350  
phones, 17 fax machines and 300 keyboards

Leaks and spills are among the environmental risks we 
contemplate in our operational risk matrix. To that end 
we have the infrastructure and equipment necessary for 
containment in the case of storage and transport of liquids 
as well as the very specific emergency protocols and 
procedures for each case. 

The most severe events of this kind were:
 • 94,019 liters of solvents spilled at our San Luis facility 
due to a fire at the recovery plant.
 • 28,000 Tons of sodium meta bisulfite lost when a truck 
turned over during transportation, although this material 
is not considered hazardous, we worked together with the 
trucking company to recover the material and dispose it 
according to the laws of Mexico City.

In all cases, the spills took place within the primary  
containment areas of the product handling zones, meaning 
on concrete paving with protective trenches.

The material was collected and disposed of according to our 
procedure for handling hazardous waste.

In proportion to the total volume of materials moved, in 
kilos, the spills amounted to 0.00002%.

Results: 
 »8 spills in 2016
 »102,330 liters spilled and 28,000 kilos of 
dry solids 

G4-DMA EFFLUENTS AND WASTE

G4-EN22, G4-EN23, G4-EN24
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In our investigation of these spills, we identified the need for 
training our forklift operators, and we proceeded to include 
such additional instruction to on top of what was already 
contemplated in our annual training plan.

Concerning the spill generated by the accident in the  
recovery plant in San Luis Potosí, the analysis of the  
event identified:

causes
 • A failure to comply with solvent bottling procedures. 
 • Error in process of preserving materials due to spill on  
container and time in which the spill persisted.
 • Lack of supervision.

effects
 • Vapor accumulation resulting from the spill and high  
temperatures. 
 • Static produced by gravity flow bottling.

lessons learned
 • Devote the necessary time to training in operating  
procedures before new employees start work
 • Always have a more experienced employee supervising
 • Raise safety awareness among personnel
 • Ensure that firefighting equipment (sprinklers and  
extinguishers) are in satisfactory operating condition
 • Maintain formal brigades staffed with trained employees 
 • Conduct drills twice a year 

preventive and corrective actions 

1. Safe workplace campaign, including:
 a. Weekly safety videos
 b. Regular evaluations
 c. Feedback sessions with all site personnel 
2. More frequent safety rounds by Managers
3. Screen savers
4. Newsletters

In connection with this event, the San Luis Potosi site was 
visited by local, state and federal authorities, including:
 • Municipal and state civil protection
 • State and federal Ministry of Labor
 • State environmental authorities
 • Federal environmental protection agency (PROFEPA)

All of these agencies issued inspection certificates containing 
urgent remediation steps, which have been addressed and 
resolved, according to each type of required procedure. At 
present, only the measures recommended by the Federal 
Attorney for Environmental Protection (PROFEPA) are 

opened and pending; these involve soil remediation and civil 
protection relating to investments.  A fine of Ps 7,000 was 
levied, by the municipal civil protection authorities; the other 
agencies have not yet formally closed the procedures.

One of the values that guides the operation of Grupo 
Pochteca is caring for the environment and abiding by all 
related norms. For that reason, our management system 
includes monthly monitoring of all norms, the detection of 
any violations and action plans to avoid their recurrence, as 
well as allotting the resources to necessary to fulfill those 
objectives.

The types of activities our company is engaged in requires 
that we abide by environmental rules at the municipal, state 
and federal levels. These obligations are contemplated as 
part of the controls, monitoring and reports that are part of 
our Integrated Management System (SIG) nationwide. These 
reports are reviewed each month by the Senior Management 
to assure that we maintain the necessary compliance.

In 2016 we were the target of 35 inspections, nine by 
federal environmental authorities. From this visits we had 4 
sanctions: 2 by the Ministry of Labor and Social Security 
(STPS), 1 from the Ministry of the Environment and Natural 
Resources (SEMARNAT) and 1 from Civil Protection, totaling 
Ps 160,280 pesos. The violations in question were dealt 
with to the satisfaction of the authorities.

G4-DMA COMPLIANCE

G4-DMA SUPPLIER ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT

G4-EN29

G4-12

G4-14

G4-SO8
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In addition to such governmental 
inspections, our clients and suppliers 
conduct an annual evaluation of our 
environmental performance through 
second and third hand audits.

In 2016 we were the subject of 27 
audits, 21 of which comprised part 
of their evaluation of environment 
aspects. In all of these we received 
favorable evaluations and in some 
cases suggestions for improvement. 

San Juan San Jose Vallejo Monterrey Minatitlan Tacubaya Merida Guadalajara Queretaro Toluca Cancun SLP Leon Costa Rica
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G4-EN32, G4-EN33, G4-LA14, G4-LA15

50%

27%

9%

14%

Objective of 
audits

Safety, security and the environment

Sustainability

Quality system 

Security

The results of such verifications are 
communicated to the organization 
through our communications and 
collaboration portal PochtecaNET. 
Moreover, we share each branch 
location’s normative performance 
though their site within that same portal.

Environmental legal requirements are 
regarded as one of the main criteria 
to be used for acceptance or rejection 
when evaluating possible new projects. 
For that reason, over the course of 
the year we requested the necessary 
permits and studies for the installation 
and operation of three solvent 
distillation units at our facilities in 
Leon, Guanajuato, Mexico.

tacubaya 
Total paper sheets: 310,129
Trees consumption: 37
CO2 consumption: 3,939 kg
Equivalence of hours of a light bulb 
light: 246,604 hours

expenses and investMents

Data highlights
 • In 2016, Pochteca invested Ps 
800,000 in environmental protection 
measures, including permits, studies 
and legal consultancy.
 • Following the San Luis incident, 
an additional Ps 1.5 million was 
allocated to restoring the affected 
area and implementing the local and 
federal environmental authorities’ 
recommendations. The process will 
remain under way in 2017 until the 
site is cleared for operation after 
remediation is completed.
 • A budget line of Ps 500,000 
was assigned for renting print-
control equipment that records the 
environmental impact of each user’s 
printing activity in terms of the 
number of trees consumed and the 
CO2 produced. This system helps 
build awareness and commitment to 
reduction among our employees.

environMental iMpact  
of the user

san juan
Total paper sheets: 928,521
Trees consumption: 111
CO2 consumption: 11,792 kg
Equivalence of hours of a light bulb 
light: 738,329 hours

By investing Ps 35 million in 2015 to 
acquire 3 solvent recovery systems, 
we were able to increase the volume of 
material recovered in 2016, as follows: 

2015 2016

1,660 liters 5,538 liters

G4-DMA OVERALL

G4-EN31
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supplier assessMent

As part of our supplier selection and evaluation, we apply 
a supplier pre-evaluation questionnaire in which we request 
evidence of compliance with a Sustainability Management 
System or a self-evaluation of its performance.

responsible sourcing 

supply chain

In order to guarantee a responsible supply chain, we share 
with our suppliers the Integral Management System Policy 
and the Suppliers’ Manual. Both documents establish our 
commitment to taking care of the environment and we ask 
our business partners recognition of and abidance of those 
documents. 

As part of our human rights practices, we always require of 
all suppliers that offer to provide services at our facilities, 
official documentation guaranteeing its compliance with  
minimum age requirements, as well as its registration with 
any social security service.

Our code of ethics spells out Pochteca policies in relation to: 
 • Freedom of association 
 • Non-discrimination and equal opportunity 
 • Banning forced and child labor 

80% of our suppliers provide inputs and services from 
which 100% are local. 

The remaining 20% provide raw materials from which:
 • Inorganic chemicals, solvents and blends 70% are local 
and 30% foreign
 • Food segment 18% local and 82% foreign 
 • Lubricants segment is 100% foreign 
 • Paper segment is 30% local and 70% foreign

GA-DMA SUPPLIER ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

G4-DMA LABOR MANAGEMENT RELATIONS 

G4-DMA OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

G4-DMA SAFETY MEASURES, G4-DMA SUPPLIER HUMAN RIGHTS ASSESSMENT

G4-DMA SUPPLIER SOCIAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT, G4-DMA NON-DISCRIMINATION

G4-EN32, G4-LA14, G4-LA15, G4-HR7, G4-HR10, G4-HR11, G4-SO9, G4-SO10

G4-DMA FREEDOM OF ASSOCIATION AND COLLECTIVE BARGAINING 

G4-HR4

G4-DMA PROCUREMENT PRACTICES

G4-EC9

G4-DMA SUPPLIER ASSESSMENT FOR LABOR PRACTICES

G4-HR3, G4-HR5, G4-HR6
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Yes No Partial N/A Total Compliance %

Quality 52  0  0  0
Maximum to obtain 52

20%
Obtained 52

Environment 36 0 0 0
Maximum to obtain 36

20%
Obtained 36

Occupational health and 
safety

40 0 0 0
Maximum to obtain 40

20%
Obtained 40

Food safety 40 0 0 0
Maximum to obtain 40

20%
Obtained 40

Social responsibility 32 0 0 0
Maximum to obtain 32

20%
Obtained 32

Total evaluation

Food raw materials supplier 100%

We evaluated the supplier’s 
performance with each delivery 
and in the event we detected any 
shortcomings we sent a non-compliant 

service report that becomes part of the 
semester compliance calculation against 
the total of services for the period.

Currently, 80% of our raw 
material suppliers and 70% of our 

transportation suppliers are rated as 
trustworthy by this measure.  To follow 
up with suppliers who fail to comply 
with the required standards, we have 
designed plans of action in order 
to work together to obtain tangible 
improvements. 

In the above-mentioned manual, we 
provide contact numbers suppliers 
can use, to report any breach of 
these guidelines through a transparent 
hotline. We also have complaint boxes 
for neighboring community to report 
environmental risks. As a result, in 
2016, we received no complaints  
of this kind.

G4-LA14, G4-LA15, G4-LA10

G4-EN34

custoMer health and safety

In order to offer our clients environmentally-safe alternati-
ves, in the Pochteca paper division we introduced 30 new 
SKUs for FSC-certified products, and the volume of tons of 
these products sold increased from 2,221 to 2,663 Tons. 
Today, FSC-certified product SKUs account for 20% of our 
total product catalog.

We are also in the process of introducing environmentally- 
friendly products into our raw materials division, which current-
ly make up 15% of the total catalog of this product families.
 • Water-based grease and paint removers for metal and 
plastic.
 • Tensioactive materials like nonylphenol for lauryl alcohols.
 • Sodium gluconate as a chelating agent in cleaning pro-
ducts, reducing the use of EDTA.

From the incidents reported during the period, none were 
related to non-compliance with voluntary regulations or 
codes related to product impacts, since the analysis cases 
were found to have failed to comply with the procedures or 
lack of training. 

Because the products we make are subject to internatio-
nal and national standards that require us to identify their 
degree of risk, Pochteca and its clients require that 100% 
of the products comply with the requirement applicable to 
them according to the type of risk or product in question.

Some of the applicable standards are:
 • NOM-018-STPS
 • OHSAS
 • GHS
 • PROFECO

To date we have not received any report of an incident or 
breach of regulations regarding product or service labeling. 

responsible sales
G4-DMA CUSTOMER HEALTH AND SAFETY

G4-DMA PRODUCT AND SERVICE LABELING, G4-PR1

G4-PR3 

G4-PR2 

G4-PR6 

G4-PR4
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In order to identify the level of our 
customer satisfaction and to follow 
up on areas of opportunity for 
improvement, we have a customer 
satisfaction survey procedure in 
which we define how often they are 
applied and how they are planned 
and conducted. Normally, we hire an 
outside firm to handle these surveys.

This procedure uses a quantitative 
methodology involving multiple-choice 
questions that are asked of certain 
clients selected on a representative 
sample basis. A holistic sample is 

defined according to business areas 
and sizes -the only requirement is that 
they have purchased our products in 
the past year.

In the last two months of 2016, we 
conducted two customer satisfaction 
surveys: one for our Raw Materials 
division and one for our Paper 
division. Both surveys had a 90% 
level of confidence and a 10% error 
tolerance, which means they are 
statistically reliable.

Results:
 • The overall level of satisfaction 
among the clients of Pochteca’s Raw 
Materials division is 90.4.
 • The level of satisfaction among 
customers of Pochteca Paper is an 
overall 81.2. 

Based on the above mentioned, and 
based on the areas of opportunity 
detected, we have developed action 
plans that are currently being applied.

We provide a number of channels 
through which clients can express their 
opinions:
 • E-mail to:

 »sales@pochteca.com.mx
 »mercadotecnia@pochteca.com.mx

  which are answered and channeled 
  by Marketing

 • Social networks for raw materials and 
paper (Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn)
 • Toll-free numbers for paper, raw  
materials and lubricants
 • Switchboard phone numbers for  
various corporate offices, plants  
and branches
 • Contact form on the webpage at  
www.pochteca.com.mx

In keeping with the Federal Law on 
Protection of Personal Data Held by 
Third Parties, we created a Privacy 
Committee, whose initial purpose was 
to develop an action plan and oversee 
its implementation, in order to address 
vulnerabilities detected in a diagnosis 
of client privacy procedures conducted 
in 2015 by an independent firm.

The goal of this committee, once 
the committed actions have been 
implemented, is to focus attention 
and follow up on reports that may 
be presented by any stakeholder in 
accordance with our privacy policies 
for clients, suppliers, job candidates 
and employees, which can be viewed 
on our website at: 
www.pochteca.com.mx 

To date we have received no reports of 
incidents or non-compliance regarding 
the supply and use of our products 
and services.

G4-DMA CUSTOMER PRIVACY

G4-PR8

G4-PR9

G4-DMA PRODUCT AND SERVICE LABELING

G4-DMA COMPLIANCE

G4-13, G4-PR5

49 50 Pochteca / Integrated Annual Report



corporate governance

Our Board of Directors is composed of a maximum of 21 
proprietary members, decided by the Ordinary General 
Shareholders’ Meeting, and at least 25% of these, must be 
independent. As of today, seven of the 11 members are 
independent board members, thereby exceeding this legal 
requirement. In addition, the Board of Directors elects a 
Secretary who is not a member of the Board. The Board is 
supported by an Audit Committee and a Corporate Practices 
Committee.

Propietary members Alternate board members

Jorge Ricardo Gutiérrez Muñoz 
CHAIRMAN

Margarita Hugues Vélez*

Eugenio Santiago Clariond 
Reyes Retana*

Eugenio Gerardo Manzano Alba Juan Pablo del Valle Perochena

Francisco Javier del Valle 
Perochena 

Antonio del Valle Perochena

Francisco Javier Moguel Gloria*

Ernesto Moya Pedrola*

Francisco Javier Ruiz Galindo y 
Terrazas*

Armando Santacruz González Federico Santacruz González

José Antonio Vértiz Pani*

Fernando Benjamín Ruiz 
Sahagún*

Juan Pablo del Río Benítez SECRETARY, NON-MEMBER
Almaquio Basurto Rosas ALTERNATE SECRETARY,  
NON-MEMBER

audit and corporate  
practices coMMittee
Francisco Javier Moguel Gloria CHAIRMAN
Francisco Javier Ruiz Galindo y Terrazas MEMBER
Margarita Hugues Vélez MEMBER
Juan Pablo del Río Benítez SECRETARY, NON-MEMBER

executive coMMittee 
Jorge Ricardo Gutiérrez Muñoz CHAIRMAN
Armando Santacruz González MEMBER
Eugenio Gerardo Manzano Alba MEMBER

G4-34
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sales, earnings and gross Margins

 • Sales were practically unchanged from 2015. Consolidated 
sales increased by only 1% for the year. While the 19% 
depreciation of the Mexican peso relative to the US dollar 
helped to increase the peso amount of revenues from the 
sale of products which we sell in dollars, the decline in our 
dollar sales prices was greater than the peso devaluation, 
so we have yet to emerge from the deflationary process 
that got underway in 2015. The weakness of industrial 
activity in Brazil adversely affected our sales because 
industrial activity is the main driver of our business in 
Brazil. In Mexico, illiquidity in the oil and gas sector has 
reduced the payment capacity of participants in that 
industry. For that reason we have prioritized risk reduction 
and protecting working capital in that sector, something 
that has lowered our sales to oil and gas companies. It is 
important to mention that oil and gas constituted our main 
market, along with mining, up until 2016. Unfortunately, 
these sectors have seen a major reduction in activity, and, 
as a result, in their need for inputs. 

analysis of ManageMent results

ceo report on 2016 results

 • Gross profit decreased by 3%, falling from Ps 1.11 billion 
pesos in 2015 to Ps 1.08 billion, primarily due to the 
negative effects on the sales margin in Brazil. 
 • Our gross margin narrowed 70 basis points (bp) to 17.5% 
primarily due to the effect of the Brazilian currency 
revaluation. Our gross margin in Brazil fell 250bp in 2016. 
Over the course of the year the Brazilian real revalued 
19% in relation to the US dollar from 4.04 reais at the 
beginning of the year to 3.26 at the end of December 
2016. This revaluation’s adversely pressured our gross 
margin in Brazil as inventories that were purchased at 
higher exchange rates had to be sold at lower exchange 
rates. Should t the Brazilian exchange rate remain at 
current levels, we would expect our Brazil gross margin to 
gradually recover to its historical highs.

2015 2016

18.2% Gross margin 17.5%

operating incoMe and ebitda

 • Operating income decreased 48% in 2016, falling from 
Ps 223 million in 2015 to Ps 116 million. Operating 
margin was 1.9%, which was 180 basis points lower than in 
2015. The weak performance of Brazil, which recorded an 
operating loss for 2016, was the main cause of the decline 
in our consolidated operating income. Operating income 
was off by 48% for the full year. EBITDA decreased 27% 
compared to 2015 while EBITDA margin fell 160 basis 
points to 4.0%. 
 • Operating expenses (excluding depreciation) increased 8% 
compared to 2015. Expenses as a percentage of sales 
increased from 12.6% in 2015 to 13.5% in 2016. The 
main impact was generated by inflation in Brazil as a 
considerable part of expenses in the Brazilian economy 
are indexed and, as a result, are driven higher by inflation. 
Similarly, the 45% year on year revaluation of the real 
against the peso, which took the Mexican currency from 
4.36 to 6.33 pesos per real, raised by the same percent 
expenses in Brazil when we convert our results to pesos. 
Unfortunately, sales in Brazil have undergone a contraction, 
thereby accentuating the effect of both of these variables 
on expenses as a percentage of sales.
 • During 2016 we incurred Ps 32 million in extraordinary 
/ non-recurring expenses. Excluding these expenses, the 
percentage of expenses to sales would have been 12.9% 
for the year. The items registered as part of our non-
recurring expenses included the following:
 »Labor fraud backed by the government of   
Quintana Roo state:    $6 million
 »Labor fraud in Monterrey, Nuevo Leon:  $4 million
 »Layoffs in Mexico:    $6 million
 »Layoffs in Brazil:    $2 million
 »Due diligence for contemplating possible   
acquisitions:     $6 million

2015 2016

12.6% Expenses / Sales 13.5%
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financial expense and 
net incoMe 

 • Net interest expense decreased 18% 
year on year during 2016. Bank 
debt at the end of 2016 totaled Ps 
873 million, 7% lower than in 2015. 
Interest expense will be greater during 
2017 as interest rates have risen in 
Mexico. To be more specific, between 
December 2015 and the end of 
1Q17, Banco de México raised its 
reference lending rate by 325 bp.

 
 • Pochteca registered a Ps 6 million 
net loss after having posted a Ps 34 
million net profit in 2015. The 48% 
decline in operating income was the 
main factor underpinning the net loss 
for the year. The negative impact of 
the drop in operating income offset 
the benefits of reduced expenses and 
foreign exchange losses in 2016 (the 
latter was 47% less than the Ps 94 
million forex loss of 2015). 

 

net debt and leverage 
Metrics

• Net debt at the end of 2016 totaled 
Ps 728 million, 31% or Ps 174 
million greater than at the end of 
2015. The revaluation of the Brazilian 
real relative to the Mexican peso was 
responsible for part of the increase in 
our net debt, which we report in pesos. 
 »During 2016, Coremal’s net debt 
increased 7% in reais, rising from 
46.8 million to 49.9 million.
 »The peso/real exchange rate 
depreciated 45% during that same 
period from 4.36 to 6.33 pesos per 
real. 
 »As a result of that movement, 
Coremal’s net debt increased 55% 
in pesos climbing from Ps 204 
million to PS 316 million. 
 » In addition, during 2016 we 
amortized bank debt in Mexico for 
Ps 140 million.

 • Net Debt to EBITDA increased to 2.9 
times in 2016 from 1.6 times at the 

end of 2015. The most recent level 
is above our internal policy of not 
surpassing 2 times and is the result 
of EBITDA being weaker than we had 
anticipated as well as an increase in 
Coremal debt as expressed in pesos 
in response to the revaluation of the 
Brazilian currency. We are confident 
that the combination of the reduction 
in expenses achieved through 
corporate restructuring, the gradual 
recovery in Brazil, and the absence 
of the non recurring expenses 
incurred in 2016 will allow EBITDA 
to recover to levels better than those 
of 2015, and that this metric will 
return to our target range levels.

 
 • In 2016 interest coverage (EBITDA / 
interest) was 2.6 times. This indicator 
is below the 2015 level of 3.0 times. 

 
 • We will remain focused on cash 
flow generation by means of a strict 
management of working capital, as 
well as the cost and expense controls 
necessary for strengthening EBITDA.

2016 2015

Gross debt (Ps million) 873 940

Net debt (Ps million) 728 554

Net debt / EBITDA  12 M 2.9x 1.6x

Interest coverage 2.6x 3.0x

Outstanding shares 130,522,049 130,522,049

corporate restructuring

During 2016 we modified the com-
pany’s corporate structure to lower its 
operating expenses and more efficient-
ly align the commercial area with that 
of operations.

We made the following management 
changes:

1. Francisco Martínez, who was  
Director of Sales and Branches and 
who has been at Pochteca for more 
than 10 years, was appointed  
Operations Director.

 
2. Eugenio Floresgómez, formerly 

Director of the Chemicals Division 
and who has more than six years’ 
experience in the company, took 
over the position of Director of 
Sales and Branches. 

 
3. Carlos Cepeda, who has been  

with Pochteca for seven years, 
became Director of Product 
Segments (excluding Paper and 
Lubricants) a newly created position. 
He was previously Director of the 
Food Chemicals Division.

 
4. Silvio Zapata, who was Director 

of Lubricants for Latin America, 
assumed the responsibility for the 
entire Lubricants division, including 
Mexico and Latin America, which 
were merged. He has worked at the 
Company for six years.

 
 5. We merged the IT and the Business 

Intelligence departments. Ricardo 
Orozco, who has been with  
Pochteca for four years, was  
appointed Director of IT &  
Business Intelligence.

G4-34
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GENERAL STANDARD DISCLOSURES

General Standard Disclosures Page Number (or Link) External Assurance

Strategy and analysis

G4-1 4 NO

G4-2 4 NO

Organizational profile

G4-3 Investor information NO

G4-4 9 NO

G4-5 Investor information NO

G4-6 9 NO

G4-7 Investor information NO

G4-8 9, 13, 14 NO

G4-9 3, 28 NO

G4-10 28 NO

G4-11 29 NO

G4-12 41 NO

G4-13 48 NO

G4-14 41 NO

G4-15 22 NO

G4-16 22 NO

Identified material aspects and boundaries

G4-17 21 NO

G4-18 21 NO

G4-19 21 NO

G4-20 21 NO

G4-21 21 NO

G4-22 21 NO

G4-23 21 NO

g4 gri content index

SPECIFIC STANDARD DISCLOSURES

DMA and Indicators Page Number (or Link) External Assurance

Category: economic

Aspect: economic performance

G4-DMA 4 NO

G4-EC1 3 NO

G4-EC2 6 NO

G4-EC4 No government aid received NO

Aspect: market presence

G4-DMA 27 NO

G4-EC5 27 NO

G4-EC6 27 NO

Stakeholder engagement

G4-24 21 NO

G4-25 21 NO

G4-26 21 NO

G4-27 21 NO

Report profile

G4-28 129 NO

G4-29 129 NO

G4-30 129 NO

G4-31 129 NO

G4-32 56-62, 129 NO

G4-33 129 NO

Governance

G4-34 51, 55 NO

Ethics and integrity

G4-56 20, 25 NO

GENERAL STANDARD DISCLOSURES

General Standard Disclosures Page Number (or Link) External Assurance
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SPECIFIC STANDARD DISCLOSURES

DMA and Indicators Page Number (or Link) External Assurance

Material aspect: procurement practices

G4-DMA 45 NO

G4-EC9 45 NO

Category: environmental

Material aspect: materials

G4-DMA 35 NO

G4-EN1 36 NO

G4-EN2 36 NO

Material aspect: energy

G4-DMA 35

G4-EN6 37 NO

G4-EN7 36, 37 NO

Material aspect: water

G4-DMA 36 NO

G4-EN8 36 NO

G4-EN9 36 NO

G4-EN10 36 NO

Material aspect: biodiversity

G4-DMA 35 NO

G4-EN11 35 NO

G4-EN12 35 NO

G4-EN13 35 NO

G4-EN14 35 NO

Material aspect: emissions

G4-DMA 38 NO

G4-EN15 38 NO

G4-EN16 38 NO

G4-EN17 38 NO

G4-EN19 38

G4-EN20 38 NO

SPECIFIC STANDARD DISCLOSURES

DMA and Indicators Page Number (or Link) External Assurance

Material aspect: effluents and waste

G4-DMA 39 NO

G4-EN22 39

G4-EN23 39 NO

G4-EN24 39 NO

G4-EN25 We do not export nor import any type of 
waste

NO

G4-EN26 We do not have effluents or runoff in our 
facilities

NO

Material aspect: products and services

G4-DMA 36 NO

G4-EN27 35 NO

G4-EN28 36 NO

Material aspect: compliance

G4-DMA 41, 45 NO

G4-EN29 41 NO

Material aspect: overall

G4-DMA 43 NO

G4-EN31 35, 43 NO

Material aspect: supplier environmental assessment

G4-DMA 41, 45 NO

G4-EN32 42, 45 NO

G4-EN33 42 NO

Material aspect: environmental grievance mechanisms

G4-EN34 35, 46 NO

Category: Social

Sub-Category: Labor Practices and Decent Work

Material aspect: employment

G4-DMA 27 NO

G4-LA1 29 NO
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SPECIFIC STANDARD DISCLOSURES

DMA and Indicators Page Number (or Link) External Assurance

G4-LA2 30 NO

G4-LA3 27 NO

Material aspect: labor management relations

G4-LA4 28 NO

Material aspect: occupational health and safety

G4-DMA 30, 45 NO

G4-LA5 32 NO

G4-LA6 26, 32 NO

G4-LA7 30 NO

G4-LA8 30 NO

Material aspect: training and education

G4-DMA 33 NO

G4-LA10 33, 46 NO

G4-LA11 33 NO

Material aspect: diversity and equal opportunity

G4-LA12 30 NO

Material aspect: equal remuneration for women and men

G4-DMA 30 NO

G4-LA13 30 NO

Aspect: supplier assessment for labor practices

G4-DMA 45 NO

G4-LA14 42, 45, 46 NO

Material aspect: labor practices grievance mechanisms

G4-DMA 25 NO

G4-LA15 42, 45, 46 NO

G4-LA16 25

Sub-Category: Human Rights

Material aspect: investment

G4-HR2 33 NO

SPECIFIC STANDARD DISCLOSURES

DMA and Indicators Page Number (or Link) External Assurance

Material aspect: non-discrimination

G4-DMA 45 NO

G4-HR3 25, 45 NO

Material aspect: freedom of association and collective bargaining

G4-DMA 45 NO

G4-HR4 45 NO

Material aspect: child labor

G4-HR5 45 NO

Material aspect: forced or compulsory labor

G4-HR6 45 NO

Material aspect: security practices

G4-DMA 45 NO

G4-HR7 33, 45 NO

Material aspect: assessment

G4-DMA 33 NO

G4-HR9 33 NO

Material aspect: supplier human rights assesment

G4-DMA 45 NO

G4-HR10 45 NO

G4-HR11 45 NO

Material aspect: human rights grievance mechanisms

G4-HR12 25

Sub-Category: Society

Material aspect: anti-corruption

G4-DMA 27 NO

G4-SO3 27 NO

G4-S04 27 NO

G4-S05 27 NO
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G4-S07 26 NO
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Material aspect: supplier assessment for impacts on society

G4-S09 45 NO

G4-S010 45 NO

Material aspect: grievance mechanisms for impacts on society

G4-SO11 25 NO

Sub-Category: Product Responsibility

Material aspect: customer health and safety

G4-DMA 47 NO

G4-PR1 47 NO

G4-PR2 47 NO

Material aspect: product and service labeling

G4-DMA 47, 48

G4-PR3 47 NO
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G4-PR5 48 NO

Material aspect: marketing communications

G4-PR6 47 NO

Material aspect: customer privacy

G4-DMA 48 NO

G4-PR8 48 NO

Material aspect: compliance

G4-DMA 48 NO

G4-PR9 48 NO
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Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grupo Pochteca, S. A. B. de C. V. and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) which comprise 
the consolidated statements of financial position as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated statements of income and 
other comprehensive income, consolidated statements of changes in stockholders’ equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the 
years then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board.

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA 
Code) together with the Code of Ethics issued by the Mexican Institute of Public Accountants (IMCP Code), and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code and with the IMCP Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined that the matters 
described below are the key audit issues which should be communicated in our report.

Impairment of Goodwill
The Group has identified several cash-generating units related to the business combinations which are shown as goodwill in the consolidated 
statements of financial position. An impairment analysis is performed on a yearly basis, which considers tangible and intangible assets as 
required by IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”. Under this standard, discounted future cash flows are calculated in order to determine whether 
the asset value has been impaired. There is a risk that the determination of the assumptions used by management to calculate the discounted 
future cash flows might not be reasonable considering the current and projected circumstances of the Group.

inDEpEnDEnT AuDiToRS’ REpoRT 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
of Grupo Pochteca, S. A. B. de C. V. and Subsidiaries

Our audit procedures included, among others:

i) Involve our internal specialists to:

 -  Critically evaluate whether the model used by management to calculate the value in use of the individual cash-generating units complies 
with the requirements of IAS 36.

 -  Evaluate the reasonableness of the assumptions used by the Group to determine the proper discount rates in each case.

 -  Review that the projected cash flows are consistent with the historical audited information, and that any the effects of any non-recurring 
items that are not consistent with our understanding of the operations of the Group are properly excluded.

 -  Selectively, recalculate the projections to test the amounts

ii)  Testing internal controls and substantive procedures related to the information used to build the financial model that determines the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units.

iii)  Examine the methodology and reasoning of the Group’s management in the impairment analysis, and conclude that the assumptions 
used are comparable to the historical performance and the projected circumstances of the Group as well as the discount rates used were 
appropriate in the circumstances.

  The results of our audit procedures were reasonable. In addition, we did not note evidence of impairment that require adjustment to the 
Group’s reported goodwill balance.

Other Information 
 Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report that the 
Group is obligated to prepare in accordance with the Article 33, Section I, Subsection b) of the fourth title, First Chapter of the General Rules 
Applicable to Securities Issuers and Other Participants of the Mexican Stock Market and the accompanying Manual of those legal provisions 
(the Legal provisions). The annual report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

 Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.
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 In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above 
when it becomes available and, doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
We also: 

–  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

–  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

–  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made 
by management.

–  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

–  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

–  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to 
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Galaz, Yamazaki, Ruiz Urquiza, S. C.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

C.P.C. Carlos IgnaCIo Muñoz MIranda

April 12, 2017
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     Notes  2016  2015  2014

Assets

Current assets:

 Cash and cash equivalents 5 $ 144,799 $ 385,672 $ 324,458

 Accounts receivable and recoverable taxes - Net 6  1,152,054  1,050,658  1,027,398

 Due from related parties 19  7,481  2,356  5,132

 Inventories - Net 7  855,305  830,616  910,317

 Prepaid expenses   42,336  46,510  50,075

    Total current assets   2,201,975  2,315,812  2,317,380

Investment property 8  15,060  12,727  12,727

    

Property, plant and equipment - Net  9  813,248  813,712  860,514

    

Other investments   4,381  4,381  4,381

    

Other assets   72,554  97,359  83,849

    

Deferred income taxes – Net 23  69,477  42,152  27,404

    

Intangible assets 11  51,524  51,574  51,903

    

Goodwill  12  433,067  366,097  405,866

    

    Total non-current assets   1,459,311  1,388,002  1,446,644

Total    $ 3,661,286 $ 3,703,814 $ 3,764,024

The accompanying notes are part of the consolidated financial statements.

ConSoLiDATED STATEmEnTS of finAnCiAL poSiTion
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014

(IN THOUSANDS OF MEXICAN PESOS)

GRUPO POCHTECA, S. A. B. DE C. V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

     Notes  2016  2015  2014

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Current liabilities:

 Bank loans and current portion of long-term debt 14 $ 500,911 $ 325,279 $ 61,525

 Trade accounts payable   1,100,641  1,199,576  1,193,008

 Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 13  194,018  169,606  184,525

 Due to related parties 19  6,871  9,909  9,486

 Income taxes and statutory employee profit sharing   19,800  15,780  30,494

    Total current liabilities   1,822,241  1,720,150  1,479,038
    

Long-term liabilities:    

 Other long-term accounts payable 13  218,867  210,067  226,871

 Long-term debt 14  371,975  614,323  873,988

 Employee benefits 15  17,067  7,002  13,460

    Total long-term liabilities   607,909  831,392  1,114,319

    Total liabilities   2,430,150  2,551,542  2,593,357
    

Stockholders’ equity:    

 Contributed capital –    

  Capital stock 16            1,096,837  1,093,624  1,089,689

  Premium on sale of repurchased stock   58,176                 58,176  51,060

  Earned capital –                                                

 Retained earnings   69,550  31,884  17,667

  Reserve for repurchase of shares   22,488  56,582  54,652

  Translation effects of foreign operations   (12,170)  (86,883)  (41,364)

  Other comprehensive income   (3,745)  (1,111)  (1,037)

       76,123  472  29,918
    

    Total stockholders’ equity   1,231,136  1,152,272  1,170,667

Total    $ 3,661,286 $ 3,703,814 $ 3,764,024
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     Notes  2016  2015  2014

Continuing operations:    

Net sales 20 $ 6,139,273 $ 6,078,819 $ 6,031,940

Cost of sales 21  (5,064,001)  (4,972,853)  (4,980,497)

    Gross profit   1,075,272  1,105,966  1,051,443

    

Operating expenses 22  (959,113)  (883,069)  (856,009)

    Income from operations   116,159  222,897  195,434

    

Financing costs:    

 Interest income   14,901  14,893  12,262

 Interest expense   (96,308)  (113,573)  (112,865)

 Exchange (loss)    (49,526)  (93,888)  (77,177)

       (130,933)  (192,568)  (177,780)

    

 (Loss) income before income taxes   (14,774)  30,329  17,654

    

 (Benefit) income taxes expense  23  (9,100)  (3,213)  13,130

    

Consolidated net (loss) income   $ (5,674) $ 33,542 $ 4,524

    

Other comprehensive income 
    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:    

 Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation   (2,634)  (74)  (1,037)

 Exchange differences on translating foreign operations   74,713  (45,519)  (11,476)

    

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year  $ 66,405 $ (12,051) $ (7,989)

    

ConSoLiDATED STATEmEnTS of inComE AnD oTHER CompREHEnSiVE inComE
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014

(IN THOUSANDS OF MEXICAN PESOS, EXCEPT EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE EXPRESSED IN MEXICAN PESOS)

GRUPO POCHTECA, S. A. B. DE C. V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

     Notes  2016  2015  2014

Earnings per share:
    

From continuing operations:    

    

Basic and diluted (losses) earnings per common share 

   (in Mexican pesos)  $ (0.0435) $ 0.2570 $ 0.0347

    

Weighted average shares outstanding   130,522,049  130,522,049   130,522,049 

The accompanying notes are part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ConSoLiDATED STATEmEnTS of CHAnGES in SToCKHoLDERS’ EquiTY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014 

(IN THOUSANDS OF MEXICAN PESOS)

GRUPO POCHTECA, S. A. B. DE C. V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

  Contributed capital

  Common stock    Earned capital

   Premium on
   sale of   Reserve for Translation  Remeasurement Total
	 	 	 repurchased	 	 Accumulated	 repurchase	 effects	of	foreign	 of	defined	benefit	 stockholders’	
 Nominal In trust stock Total results of shares  operations obligation equity 

Balances at the beginning of 2014 $ 1,104,721 $ (15,919) $ 52,618 $ 1,141,420 $ 40,376 $ 41,938 $ (29,888) $ – $ 1,193,846

 Cancellation of reserve for repurchase of shares  –  –  –  –  12,767  (12,767)  –  –  – 

 Creation of reserve for repurchase of shares  –  –  –  –  (40,000)  40,000  –  –  – 

 Repurchase of shares  –  –  (1,558)  (1,558)  –  (14,519)  –  –  (16,077)

 Payment of capital  –  887  –  887  –  –  –  –  887

 Net comprehensive loss for the year  –  –  –    –  4,524  –  (11,476)  (1,037)  (7,989)

Balances as of December 31, 2014  1,104,721  (15,032)  51,060  1,140,749  17,667  54,652  (41,364)  (1,037)  1,170,667

 Payment of capital  –  3,935  –  3,935  –  –  –  –  3,935

 Cancellation of reserve for repurchase of shares  –  –  –  –  24,675  (24,675)  –  –  – 

 Creation of reserve for repurchase of shares  –  –  –  –  (44,000)  44,000  –  –  – 

 Repurchase of shares  –  –  7,116  7,116  –  (17,395)  –  –  (10,279)

 Net comprehensive loss for the year  –  –  –  –  33,542  –  (45,519)  (74)  (12,051)

Balances as of December 31,2015  1,104,721  (11,097)  58,176  1,151,800  31,884  56,582  (86,883)  (1,111)  1,152,272

 Payment of capital  –  3,213  –  3,213  –  –  –  –  3,213

 Cancellation of reserve for repurchase of shares   –  –  –  –  73,340  (73,340)  –  –  – 

 Creation of reserve for repurchase of shares   –  –  –  –  (30,000)  30,000  –  –  – 

 Repurchase of shares   –  –  –  –  –  9,246  –  –  9,246

 Net comprehensive loss for the year  –  –  –  –  (5,674)  –  74,713  (2,634)  66,405

Balances as of December 31,2016 $ 1,104,721 $ (7,884) $ 58,176 $ 1,155,013 $ 69,550 $ 22,488 $ (12,170) $ (3,745) $ 1,231,136

The accompanying notes are part of the consolidated financial statements.
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ConSoLiDATED STATEmEnTS of CASH fLoWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014

(IN THOUSANDS OF MEXICAN PESOS)  (INDIRECT METHOD)

GRUPO POCHTECA, S. A. B. DE C. V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

     Notes  2016  2015  2014

Cash flows from operating activities:    

 Consolidated net (loss) income  $ (5,674) $ 33,542 $ 4,524

 Adjustments for:    

  Income taxes (benefit) expense  23  (9,100)  (3,213)  13,130

  Depreciation and amortization   22  131,944  118,269  107,572

  Gain on sale of property and equipment   (1,316)  (3,033)  (4,213)

  Amortization of commissions paid   4,260  4,231  8,250

  Interest paid   92,048  109,342  104,615

  Interest income   (14,901)  (14,893)  (12,262)

  Unrealized exchange loss   107,386  83,561  33,817

       304,647  327,806  255,433

 (Increase) decrease in:    

  Accounts receivable and recoverable taxes 6  (108,854)  (23,260)  (53,319)

  Inventories 7  (24,689)  79,701  (20,441)

  Prepaid expenses   4,174  3,565  (15,651)

  Other assets   24,805  (22,726)  (9,368)

 (Decrease) increase in:    

  Trade accounts payable   (98,935)  6,568  106,351

  Other accounts payable and accrued expenses   844  (84,382)  99,222

  Due to related parties  19  (3,038)  3,199  (10,526)

  Income taxes paid   (14,205)  (26,249)  (35,855)

   Net cash provided by operating activities   84,749  264,222  315,846

    

Cash flows from investing activities:    

 Purchase of machinery and equipment   (57,500)  (76,082)  (99,029)

 Sale of equipment   3,120  16,554  35,718

 Acquisition of subsidiaries   (40,951)  (11,857)  (104,601)

 Interest collected   14,901  14,893  12,262

 Other investments                –  –  279

   Net cash used in investing activities   (80,430)  (56,492)  (155,371)

    

     Notes  2016  2015  2014

Cash flows from financing activities:

 Borrowings 14  205,996  58,778  948,464

 Repayment of loans received 14  (354,216)  (26,222)  (804,555)

 Payment of financial leasing   (41,107)  (25,645)  (3,990)

 Purchase of own common shares   9,246  (10,279)  (16,077)

 Interest and commissions paid   (78,525)  (68,443)  (116,213)

 Issuance and payment of common stock   3,213  3,935  887

   Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities   (255,393)  (67,876)  8,516

Effects of changes in exchange rates on cash held in 

  foreign currency   10,201  (78,640)  (25,904)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (240,873)  61,214  143,087

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   385,672  324,458  181,371

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $ 144,799 $ 385,672 $ 324,458

The accompanying notes are part of the consolidated financial statements.
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noTES To ConSoLiDATED finAnCiAL STATEmEnTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014

(IN THOUSANDS OF MEXICAN PESOS)

GRUPO POCHTECA, S. A. B. DE C. V. AND SUBSIDIARIES

1. aCtIvItIes and sIgnIfICant events

 Activity

  Grupo Pochteca, S. A. B. de C. V. and Subsidiaries (the “Entity”, or the “Group”) operates in Mexico and Brazil and its main activities are 
comprised of trading raw materials for the chemical, coating, plastics and food industries, as well as the processing and marketing 
of paper, cardboard and products for graphic arts. The offices are located at Manuel Reyes Veramendi #6, Colonia San Miguel 
Chapultepec, Delegación Miguel Hidalgo, Ciudad de México, 11850.

 Significant events

a.  Refinancing of syndicated debt – As mentioned in Note 27, on March 30, 2017 the Entity obtained a new financing in the amount of 
$875 million in order to refinance the debts described in the Note 14.

2. aPPlICatIon of new and revIsed InternatIonal fInanCIal rePortIng standards

a)  Application of new and revised International Financing Reporting Standards (“IFRSs” or “IAS”) and interpretations that are 
mandatorily effective for the current year

  In the current year, the Group has applied a number of amendments to IFRSs and new Interpretation issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after January 1, 2016.

  Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization

  The amendments to IAS 16 prohibit entities from using a revenue–based depreciation method for items of property, plant and 
equipment. The amendments to IAS 38 introduce a rebuttable presumption that revenue is not an appropriate basis for amortization 
of an intangible asset. This presumption can only be rebutted in the following two limited circumstances: 

  a) When the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue; or

  b) When it can be demonstrated that revenue and consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are highly correlated.

  The amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. Currently, the Group uses the 
straight–line method for depreciation and amortization for its property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets respectively. 

The management of the Group believes that the straight–line method is the most appropriate method to reflect the consumption of 
economic benefits inherent in the respective assets and accordingly, the application of these amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 did 
not have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

 
  Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle

  The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle include a number of amendments to various IFRSs, which are summarised 
below. 

  The amendments to IFRS 5 introduce specific guidance in IFRS 5 for when a Group reclassifies an asset (or disposal group) from 
held for sale to held for distribution to owners (or vice versa). The amendments clarify that such a change should be considered as a 
continuation of the original plan of disposal and hence requirements set out in IFRS 5 regarding the change of sale plan do not apply. 
 The amendments also clarifies the guidance for when held–for–distribution accounting is discontinued.

  
  The amendments to IFRS 7 provide additional guidance to clarify whether a servicing contract is continuing involvement in a transferred 

asset for the purpose of the disclosures required in relation to transferred assets.

  The amendments to IAS 19 clarify that the rate used to discount post–employment benefit obligations should be determined by 
reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on high quality corporate bonds. The assessment of the depth of a 
market for high qualify corporate bonds should be at the currency level (i.e. the same currency as the benefits are to be paid). For 
currencies for which there is no deep market in such high quality corporate bonds, the market yields at the end of the reporting period 
on government bonds denominated in that currency should be used instead. 

  The application of these amendments had no material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

b) New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

  The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments2

  IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

  IFRS 16 Leases3 
  Amendments to IAS 12 Income taxes1 
  Amendments to IAS 7 Statements of Cash Flows1 
  Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and measurement of share–based payments2

  1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with earlier application permitted.
  2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.
  3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier application permitted.
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  The management of the Group anticipates that the application of IFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact on amounts reported 
in respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the 
effect of IFRS 9 until the Group undertakes a detailed review.

 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

  In May 2014, IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising 
from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 
Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes effective. 

 
  The core principle of IFRS 15 is that a Group should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 

customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services. Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5–step approach to revenue recognition: 

 Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
 Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
 Step 3: Determine the transaction price
 Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
 Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation

  Under IFRS 15, a Group recognizes revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or 
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been 
added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15. 

  The management of the Group anticipates that the application of IFRS 15 in the future may have a material impact on the amounts 
reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable 
estimate of the effect of IFRS 15 until the Group performs a detailed review.

  IFRS 16, Leases 

  IFRS 16 “Leases” was issued in January 2016 and supersedes IAS 17 “Leases” and related interpretations. The new standard brings 
most leases on–balance sheet for lessees under a single model, eliminating the distinction between operating and finance leases. 
Lessor accounting, however, remains largely unchanged and the distinction between operating and finance leases is retained. IFRS 16 
is effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier adoption permitted if IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers’ has also been applied.

  Under IFRS 16 a lessee recognizes a right–of–use asset and a lease liability. The right–of–use asset is treated similarly to other 
non–financial assets and depreciated accordingly and the liability accrues interest. This will typically produce a front–loaded expense 
profile (whereas operating leases under IAS 17 would typically have had straight–line expenses) as an assumed linear depreciation of 
the right–of–use asset and the decreasing interest on the liability will lead to an overall decrease of expense over the reporting period.

  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

  IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 
was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities 
and for derecognition and in November 2014 to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting. Another revised version 
of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 mainly to include a) impairment requirements for financial assets and b) limited amendments 
to the classification and measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through other comprehensive income’ (FVTOCI) 
measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.

 
  Key requirements of IFRS 9:

 •  All recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are 
required to be subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a 
business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at amortized cost at the end of subsequent 
accounting periods. 

   Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are generally measured at FVTOCI. All other debt investments 
and equity investments are measured at their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, 
entities may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held 
for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally recognized in net income (loss).

 •  With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as of fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires that 
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is 
presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other 
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a 
financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in 
the fair value of the financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.

 •  In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit 
loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in 
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no 
longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognized.

 •  The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently available in 
IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically 
broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non–financial items 
that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of 
an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure 
requirements about a Group’s risk management activities have also been introduced.
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of share–based payment transactions from cash–settled to equity–settled. These amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments apply prospectively.

  The management of the Group expects that there may be some impacts a result of these amendments.

3. sIgnIfICant aCCountIng PolICIes

a. Statement of compliance

  The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB. 
 
b.  Basis of presentation

  The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of properties and 
lands at a fair value, as explained in the accounting policies below:

 i. Historical cost 

    Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

 ii. Fair value 

     Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation 
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or 
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement 
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a 
basis, except for share–based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the 
scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realizable value in IAS 
2 or value in use in IAS 36.

    In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to 
which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement 
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

  •  Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at 
the measurement date;

  •  Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly and,

  •  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

  The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted at the rate 
implicit in the lease if that can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee shall use their incremental 
borrowing rate.

  However, a lessee may elect to account for lease payments as an expense on a straight–line basis over the lease term for leases with 
a lease term of 12 months or less and containing no purchase options (this election is made by class of underlying asset); and leases 
where the underlying asset has a low value when new, such as personal computers or small items of office furniture (this election can 
be made on a lease–by–lease basis).

  IFRS 16 establishes different transitional provisions, including retrospective application or the modified retrospective application 
where the comparative period is not restated.

  The Group is in the process of determining the potential impacts that will derive from the adoption of this standard in its consolidated 
financial statements, although given the nature of its operations it would not expect significant impacts.

  Amendments to IAS 12 Income Tax: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses, clarify how to account for 
deferred tax assets related to debt instruments measured at fair value.

  IAS 12 provides requirements on the recognition and measurement of current or deferred tax liabilities or assets.  The amendments 
clarify the requirements on recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses, to address diversity in practice. 

  Entities are required to apply the amendments for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.  Earlier application is permitted.

 The management of the Entity does not expect significant impacts a result of these amendments.

  Amendments to IAS 7 Statements of Cash Flows: Provide disclosures.

  The amendments in disclosure initiative (Amendments to IAS 7) come with the objective that entities shall provide disclosures that 
enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.

 
  To achieve this objective, the IASB requires that the following changes in liabilities arising from financing activities are disclosed (to the 

extent necessary): (i) changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other 
businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and (v) other changes.

  Entities are required to apply the amendments for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.  Earlier application is permitted.

  The management of the Group expects that there may be some impacts a result of these amendments.

  Amendments to IFRS 2 Share–based Payment

  The amendments to IFRS 2 Share–based Payment, clarify the classification and measurement of share–based payment transactions. 
The amendments contains clarifications and amendments address to the accounting for cash–settled share–based payment 
transactions; classification of share–based payment transactions with net settlement features; and accounting for modifications 
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   Functional 

 Subsidiary Main activity currency

    

Pochteca Materias Primas, S. A. de C. V. Trading of raw materials Mexican pesos

Suplia, S. A. de C. V. Trading of raw materials Mexican pesos

Demser, S. A. de C. V. Professional services Mexican pesos

Servicios Administrativos Argostal, S. A. de C. V. Professional services Mexican pesos

Pochteca de Guatemala, S. A. Trading of raw materials
Guatemalan 
  quetzales

Pochteca Do Brasil Participações Ltd. Trading of raw materials Brazilian reais

Pochteca Papel, S. A. de C. V. Trading of paper Mexican pesos

Transportadora de Líquidos y Derivados, S. A.
Transportation of chemical 
  products

Mexican pesos

Pochteca de El Salvador, S. A. Trading of raw materials US Dollars

Pochteca de Costa Rica, S. A. Trading of raw materials Costa Rican colon

Pochteca Servicios Administrativos, S. A. de C. V. Professional services Mexican pesos

Pochteca Servicios Corporativos, S.A. de C.V. Professional services Mexican pesos

Asesoría en Lubricantes Pochteca, S. A de C. V. Professional services Mexican pesos

Asesoría en Servicios Pochteca, S. A de C. V. Professional services Mexican pesos

Plásticos Argostal, S. A. de C. V. Without operations Mexican pesos

Químicos Argostal, S. A. de C. V. Without operations Mexican pesos

Comercio e Representações Maia Ltda. Trading of raw materials Brazilian reais

Mecotrans Tansportes e Logistica Ltda.
Transportation of chemical 
  products

Brazilian reais

Coremal Química Ltda. Trading of raw materials Brazilian reais

Latam Chemicals, LLC Trading of raw materials  Dólares

 Participation in investments in all subsidiaries is 100% of its share capital.

 

c. Basis of consolidation of financial statements 

  The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Entity and its subsidiaries controlled by it. Control 
is achieved when the Entity:

 •  Has power over the investee;
 •  Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
 •  Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

  The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or 
more of the three elements of control listed above.

  When the Entity has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are 
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Entity considers all relevant facts 
and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Entity’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

 •  The size of the Entity’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;
 •  Potential voting rights held by the Entity, other vote holders or other parties;
 •  Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
 •  Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Entity has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant 

activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders meetings.
 
  Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Entity obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Entity loses control 

of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Entity gains control until the date when 
the Entity ceases to control the subsidiary.

  Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Entity and to the non–
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Entity and to the non–controlling 
interests even if this results in the non–controlling interests having a deficit balance.

  When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with 
those of the Group’s accounting policies:
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  Also, the presentation of the movements in the reserve for repurchase of shares in 2014 has been changed such that they are now 
identified separately instead of on a cumulative basis. The amortization of commissions paid on loans is presented separately in the 
consolidated statements of cash flows.

f.  Financial instruments

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss. 

 
g.  Financial assets 

  Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ (FVTPL), 
‘held–to–maturity’ investments, ‘available–for–sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on 
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales 
of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of 
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

  1.  Effective interest method

   The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income 
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all 
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount 
on initial recognition.

   Income is recognized on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as of FVTPL.

  2.  Financial assets at FVTPL

   Financial assets are classified as of FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as of FVTPL.

   A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

  •    It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
  •   On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a 

recent  actual pattern of short–term profit–taking; or
  •    It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

  Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

   Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are 
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non–controlling interests are adjusted 
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non–controlling 
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners 
of the Group. 

 
  When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between 

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying 
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non–controlling interests. All amounts previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Entity had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is 
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition 
of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

d.  Conversion of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries

  The individual financial statements of each of the Group’s subsidiaries are prepared in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Group operates (its functional currency). For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, 
the results and financial position of each entity are expressed in Mexican pesos, the Group’s functional currency, as well as the 
presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements. 

  For consolidation purposes, the recording currency used for the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries is modified to enable 
their presentation according to IFRS. The financial statements are converted to Mexican pesos by using the following methodology:

  Foreign entities that use the same recording and functional currency convert their financial statements by utilizing the following 
exchange rates: 1) the close exchange rate for assets and liabilities; 2) the historical exchange rate for stockholders’ equity, and 3) 
the average exchange rates in effect during the period unless fluctuating significantly, in which case the exchange rates in effect 
on transaction dates are used for income, costs and expenses. If applicable, exchange rate differences are recognized in other 
comprehensive income and accrued to stockholders’ equity.

e.  Reclassifications 

  The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2014 incorporate certain modifications including the reclassification of 
“Investment property” from current assets to non–current assets and changes in presentation related to the reserve for repurchase 
of shares in the consolidated statements of changes in stockholders’ equity.

  For the year 2015, the Group has defined the classification of “Investment property” as non–current assets because the sales effort 
will be managed over the long term. Although as of December 31, 2014, all conditions were fulfilled to maintain the property as a 
current asset, it was reclassified to long–term in the consolidated statement of financial position for comparative purposes.
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  5.  Allowance for bad debts:

   Tests are applied to accounts receivable from customers to determine their impairment at the end of each period. These amounts 
are considered to be impaired when objective evidence is obtained to the effect that, as a result of one or more events arising after 
their recognition, the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have been affected. Objective evidence of impairment may 
include: i) the customer’s financial difficulties; ii) customer noncompliance as regards the payment of invoices; iii) the customer 
has either started bankruptcy proceedings or a financial reorganization process; or iv) observable changes in national and local 
economic conditions which are correlated with payment default. Accounts receivable from customers that have not undergone 
individual impairment are included in the impairment evaluation performed on a collective basis.

h.  Cash and cash equivalents 

  Cash includes bank deposits and checking accounts and cash equivalents in short–term investments, highly liquid and easily 
convertible into cash, which are subject to insignificant value change risks. Cash is stated at nominal value and cash equivalents are 
presented at fair value. Fluctuations in value are recognized in income as they accrue.

i.  Inventories and cost of sales

  Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first–in–first out basis. 
Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary 
to make the sale.

 
j.  Property, plant and equipment 

  Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient 
regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the end of 
each reporting period.

  Any increase in the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, 
except if it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss, in which case the increase is 
credited to income as it reduces spending by the decrease previously made. 

  A decrease in carrying amount that originated from the revaluation of such land and buildings is recorded in income to the extent it 
exceeds the balance, if any, of the revaluation reserve of property related to a previous revaluation of that asset.

  The machinery and equipment are carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or impairment loss.

  An item of property and equipment is derecognized when sold or when no expected future economic benefits arising from the 
continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising from the sale or retirement of an item of property and equipment is calculated as 
the difference between the resources received from the sale and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in income.

   A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as of FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

  •   Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise; 
or

  •   The financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance 
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or investment strategy, and 
information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

  •    It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the entire combined contract to 
be designated as of FVTPL.

   Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognized in profit or loss. 
The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included 
in the ‘other income (expenses) – Net’ line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 3b.

  3.  Financial assets classified as available–for–sale (AFS financial assets)

   AFS financial assets are non–derivatives that are either designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b) 
held–to–maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

 
   Listed redeemable notes held by the Group that are traded in an active market are classified as AFS and are stated at fair value at 

the end of each reporting period. The Group also has investments in unlisted shares that are not traded in an active market but 
that are also classified as AFS financial assets and stated at fair value at the end of each reporting period (because the Entity’s 
management consider that fair value can be reliably measured). Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 2b. 
Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary financial assets relating to changes in foreign currency rates (see below), interest 
income calculated using the effective interest method and dividends on AFS equity investments are recognized in profit or loss. 
Other changes in the carrying amount of assets classified as held for sale are recognized in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed of or is determined to be 
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.  

   Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognized in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established.

   The fair value of AFS monetary financial assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and 
translated at the spot rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. The foreign exchange gains and losses that are recognized 
in profit or loss are determined based on the amortized cost of the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange gains and losses are 
recognized in other comprehensive income.

  4.  Loans and accounts receivable

   Loans and receivables are non–derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. Loans and receivables (including [trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash, and others [describe]) are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognized by applying 
the effective interest rate, except for short, term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial.
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n.  Business combinations

  Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination 
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition–date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, 
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquire and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for 
control of the acquire. Acquisition–related costs are generally recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

  At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value, except that:

 –  Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognized and measured 
in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 respectively;

 –  Liabilities or equity instruments related to share–based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share–based payment 
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share–based payment arrangements of the acquire are measured in accordance 
with IFRS 2 at the acquisition date; and

 –  Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non–current Assets Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

  Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non–controlling interests in the 
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquire (if any) over the net of the acquisition–
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition–date 
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount 
of any non–controlling interests in the acquire and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquire (if any), the 
excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

  When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition–date fair value and included as part of 
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as 
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement 
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot 
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. 

 
  The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period 

adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration 
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IAS 39, or IAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognized in profit or loss.

  Depreciation of these assets, as well as other properties, begins when the assets are ready for their intended use. Depreciation is 
calculated under the straight–line method based on estimated useful lives of the assets. The average years of useful lives used to 
calculate depreciation in 2016, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

       Average years

  
 Buildings  50 and 20
 Machinery and equipment 10
 Vehicles and allied equipment 4 and 15
 Office furniture and equipment 10
 Computers 3.3
 Leasehold improvements 3

  The gain or loss arising from the sale or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is calculated as the difference 
between the resources received from sales and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in results.

k.  Investment property

  Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including property under construction for 
such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties are measured at fair value. All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or 
for capital appreciation purposes are accounted for as investment properties and are measured using the fair value model. Gains and 
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

 
  An investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no 

future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which 
the property is derecognized

l.  Other investments

  Are recognized at cost. Corresponds to the share in Unión de Crédito de la Industria Litográfica, S. A. de C. V. and Club de Indus- 
triales, A. C.

m.  Other assets

  They are valued at cost and are primarily represented by security deposits for leases on truck tractors.

89 90 Pochteca / Integrated Annual Report



q.  Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

  At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate 
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash–generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual 
cash–generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash–generating units for which a reasonable and 
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

  Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, 
and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

  Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre–tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

  If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash–generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset (or cash–generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or 
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease

  When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash–generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or cash generating unit) in prior years. A reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

r.  Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

  Financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

  Financial liabilities are valued initially at fair value. Transaction costs which are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of 
financial liabilities (different from financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value 
of the financial liabilities, as the case may be, in the initial recognition. The transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in results.

 –  Classification as debt or equity

   Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangements.

  When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to its 
acquisition–date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in profit or loss. 

  Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognized in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

  If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, 
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted 
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained 
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized at 
that date.

o.  Intangible assets

  Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

  Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognized separately from goodwill are initially recognized at their fair value 
at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

  Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

  The Group has intangible assets with definite and indefinite useful lives which are disclosed in the Note 11.

p.  Goodwill 

  The goodwill generated by a business acquisition is recognized as an asset at the date on which control is acquired (see Note 12); it 
refers to the amount by which the transferred payment exceeds fair value at the acquisition date of identifiable acquired assets and 
assumed liabilities. 

  In order to test for impairment, goodwill is assigned to each of the Group’s cash generating units (or groups of cash generating units) 
which is expected to benefit from the combination of synergies.

  A cash–generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an 
indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash–generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of 
the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in 
profit or loss. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

  On disposal of the relevant cash–generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or 
loss on disposal.
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t.  Employee benefits

  Direct employee benefits are calculated based on the services rendered by employees, considering their most recent salaries.  The 
liability is recognized as it accrues. These benefits include mainly statutory employee profit sharing PTU payable, compensated 
absences, such as vacation and vacation premiums, and incentives and it is shown in the account payable and accrued liabilities.

u.  Retirement benefit costs

  Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognized as an expense when employees have rendered service 
entitling them to the contributions

  For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method, 
with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each reporting period. Actuarial gains and losses that exceed 10% of the 
greater of the present value of the Group’s defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets as at the end of the prior year 
are amortized over the expected average remaining working lives of the participating employees. 

 
  Past service cost is recognized immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amortized on a 

straight–line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested.

  The retirement benefit obligation recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position represents the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation as adjusted for unrecognized actuarial gains and losses and unrecognized past service cost, and as reduced 
by the fair value of plan assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to unrecognized actuarial losses and past service 
cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan.

v.  Statutory employee profit sharing (PTU)

  PTU is recorded in the profit or loss of the year in which it is incurred and presented under other income and operating expenses in 
the accompanying consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income.

w.  Stock option plan for key executives

  The Group has created an investment and administration trust to which it contributed the amount of $33,085 to acquire 22,056,811 
shares of Grupo Pochteca, S. A. B. de C. V. at a price of one peso and fifty cents per share. During 2008, the Board of Directors 
approved this capital increase, whereby the Group treasury held 7,943,189 shares for subsequent use in the stock option plan for key 
executives. The shares were irrevocably assigned to certain Group officers and employees, who became trust beneficiaries. Likewise, 
the Group executives agreed to pay the value of the assigned shares within a three–year period.

  During 2015, The Group created a Trust referred to as F/34. The Trust assets are comprised of the shares to be subscribed by 
investments trust management number F/34, for an amount of up to $21,105 for the share purchase option plan for key executives. 
Trust grantors comprise several subsidiaries, the trustee is Banco Ve por Más, Sociedad Anónima, Institución de Banca Múltiple, 
Grupo Financiero Vé por Más and the trust beneficiaries include several executives. As of December 31, 2015, shares have not been 
assigned to beneficiaries of this trust. The shares to be acquired represent the capital of Grupo Pochteca, S. A. B. de C. V.

 –   Equity instruments

   An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of a Group after deducting all of its liabilities. 
Group instruments issued by the Entity are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

   Repurchase of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognized and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognized in 
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

 
 –   Financial liabilities

   Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss or other financial liabilities.

 –  Financial liabilities at FVTPL

   Financial liability at fair value through profit or loss is a financial liability that is categorized as held for trading or designated as at 
fair value through profit or loss.

    Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on measurement recognized in profit or loss. 

   The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the ‘financing 
cost’ line item.

   Other financial liabilities

   Other financial liabilities (including borrowings and trade and other payables) are subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method.

 –   Derecognition of financial liabilities

   The Group recognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. 
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is 
recognized in profit or loss.

s.  Derivative financial instruments

  The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange 
rate risks, including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps. Further details of derivative 
financial instruments are disclosed in Note 18.

  Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured 
to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss immediately unless the 
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends 
on the nature of the hedge relationship.
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  – Current and deferred tax for the year

   Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the 
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

y.  Provisions 

  Provisions are recognized when the Entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
the Entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

  The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of 
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using 
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

  When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable 
is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably.

  Provisions are classified as current or non–current based on the estimated period of time to attend the obligations covered.
 
z.  Derivative financial instruments

  The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange 
rate risks, including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps. Further details of derivative 
financial instruments are disclosed in Note 19.

  Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured 
to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss immediately unless the 
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends 
on the nature of the hedge relationship.

aa.  Revenue recognition 

  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, 
rebates and other similar allowances.

x.  Income taxes

  Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

  –  Current tax

   Current income tax (“ISR”) is recognized in the results of the year in which is incurred.

  –  Deferred income tax

   Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated 
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary 
differences can be utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable 
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill.

 
   The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no 

longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

   Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is 
settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

   The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which 
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

   For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured using 
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the 
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business 
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, 
rather than through sale. The Entity’s management reviewed the Entity’s investment property portfolios and concluded that 
none of the Group’s investment properties are held under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all 
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, management 
has determined that the ‘sale’ presumption set out in the amendments to IAS 12 is not rebutted. As a result, the Entity has not 
recognized any deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the investment properties as the Entity is not subject to any income 
taxes on the fair value changes of the investment properties on disposal.
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4. CrItICal aCCountIng judgMents and key sourCes of estIMatIon unCertaInty 

  In the application of the accounting policies, the Group’s management makes judgments, estimates and assumptions about certain 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements. The estimates and assumptions are based on experience and other 
factors considered relevant. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

  The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

  The following are critical accounting judgments and key sources of uncertainty in applying accounting policies, made at the date of 
the consolidated financial statements, which have a significant risk of deriving an adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities during the next financial period, are as follows:

 a.  Useful life of property, plant and equipment – The Group reviews the estimated useful life of its property, plant and equipment 
at the end of each annual period. At the IFRS transition date, the Group management performed a detailed analysis to modify the 
estimated useful life and components of property, plant and equipment. The level of uncertainty associated with the estimation of 
these useful lives is related to market changes and asset utilization by production volumes and technological development.

 b.  Allowance for doubtful accounts – The Group uses estimates to determine the allowance for bad debts. The factors considered 
for this purpose primarily involve the risks derived from the customer’s financial position, customer guarantees and collection 
delays.

 c.  Realizable value of inventories – The Group reviews the realizable value of its inventories at the end of each period. The factors 
considered by the Group to estimate its inventories are the sales prices of its products derived from changes in market demand.

 d.  Provisions and contingencies – At the end of 2016, there are many judgements in process related to labor matters promoted 
in various subsidiaries which were originated in development of operations. The legal advisors of the company and its directors 
consider that, given its nature and even as a whole, the outcome of litigation and claims will not represent a significant economic 
impact and will not produce a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements for the years in which they are settled.

 e.  Foreign currencies – In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other 
than the entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at that date. Non–monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non–monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost 
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

  –  Sale of goods

   Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following 
conditions are satisfied:

  •  The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods.

  •  The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective 
control over the goods sold.

  •  The amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

  •  It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Entity.

  • The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

  –  Interest income

   Interest income from a financial asset is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Entity and the 
amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding 
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

bb.  Classification of costs and expenses 

  Costs and expenses presented in the consolidated statements of income and other comprehensive income were classified according 
to their function separating the cost of sales from other costs and expenses.

cc.  Earnings per share

  Basic (losses) earnings per common share are calculated by dividing consolidated net income (loss) by the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding during the year.

 
dd.  Reserve for repurchase of shares

  The acquisition of the Entity’s own shares are shown as a decrease in the reserve for repurchase of shares included in the consolidated 
statements of financial position under the item, reserve for repurchase of shares and are valued at acquisition cost. The sales of 
shares made after the approval of the shareholders, results in an increase in the balance of the unused repurchase reserve, which 
relate to investments made in prior periods of amounts authorized by the Assembly.
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5.  Cash and Cash equIvalents

  In the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and banks and investments. Cash equivalents 
are presented mainly by investments in risk–free instruments. Cash and cash equivalents at end of period as shown in the consolidated 
cash flow statement can be reconciled to the related items in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

     2016  2015  2014

 Cash  $ 128,819 $ 363,085 $ 300,769

 Investments  15,980  22,587  23,689

   

    $ 144,799 $ 385,672 $ 324,458

6. aCCounts reCeIvable and reCoverable taxes

     2016  2015  2014

 Trade accounts receivable $ 1,010,790 $ 938,249 $ 969,144

 Allowance for doubtful accounts  (78,921)  (57,056)  (54,583)

     931,869  881,193  914,561

   

 Recoverable taxes in Mexico  57,396  63,145  39,713

 Recoverable taxes in Brazil  114,397  60,879  42,232

 Other   48,392  45,441  30,892

   

    $ 1,152,054 $ 1,050,658 $ 1,027,398

 The accounts receivable from customers are valued at their applied cost.

  The average credit period granted for goods sales is 60 days. The Entity does not charge interest on accounts receivable from 
customers. In the case of accounts receivable aged more than 120 days, the Entity recognizes an allowance for doubtful accounts by 
considering the unrecoverable amounts determined according to its experience with counterparty noncompliance.

  The limits and ratings assigned to customers are reviewed annually. As of December 31, 2016, 71% of accounts receivable from 
customers which are not overdue or impaired have the highest credit rating according to the rating system used by the Entity.

   Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:
 
   –  Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive use, which 

are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency 
borrowings.

   –  Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither 
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognized 
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

   For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Entity’s foreign 
operations are translated into Currency Units using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income 
and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly 
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if 
any, are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (and attributed to non–controlling interests as 
appropriate).

 f.  Fair value measurements and valuation processes – Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for 
financial reporting purposes. The management of the Group determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair 
value measurements.

   In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market–observable data to the extent it is available. Where 
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified appraiser to perform the valuation. 

   Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of various assets and liabilities are 
disclosed in Note 17.
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7. InventorIes

     2016  2015  2014

 Finished goods:

  Coatings, solvents and mixtures $ 8,440 $ 9,139 $ 255,544

  Paper  101,815  136,512  172,668

  Chemicals and plastics  404,502  388,923  106,903

  Food products  190,827  155,580  144,282

  Lubricants  132,717  114,803  225,252

     838,301  804,957  904,649

 Allowance for slow moving inventory  (20,616)  (21,278)  (9,169)

     817,685  783,679  895,480

 Merchandise–in–transit  37,620  46,937  14,837

 

    $ 855,305 $ 830,616 $ 910,317

 The allowance for slow moving inventory had been increased by $2,957 in 2016, $12,109 in 2015 and $1,756 in 2014.

  Inventories that were consumed and recognized in cost of sales from continuing operations amounted to $4,846,153, $4,806,422 and 
$4,860,470 in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

8. InvestMent ProPertIes

  On December 31, 2016 and March 22, 2014, the Group received as payment in kind real properties for account receivables due from 
Solquimia, S. A. de C. V. and Agropur Lacpur, S. A. de C. V, respectively. At the date of the payment in kind, the balance receivable was 
$2,333 and $12,727, respectively. As the Group does not have any plans to make use of the property, management classifies it as an 
investment property, subject to the requirements established.

  The fair value of the Group’s investment property as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 has been determined in accordance with 
IFRS13.91 (a), 93 (d) on the basis of a valuation performed on the respective dates by an independent appraiser with the appropriate 
classifications and sufficient recent experience in the valuation of investment properties similar in nature and physical location to 
those of the Group. Fair value as of December 31, 2016 is $25,325 and $21,825 for 2015 and 2014, of which $15,200 refers to the land 
in 2016, $11,700 for 2015 and 2014 and $10,125 to the construction. However, the Group has decided to maintain the property at its 
carrying amount and recognize potential income only when it is realized through the sale of the asset. As of December 31, 2016, 2015 
and 2014 the Entity has not identified any indicators of impairment.

  The accounts receivable from customers disclosed in the preceding paragraphs include amounts which are overdue at the end of 
the reporting period, but for which the Group has not recognized an allowance for doubtful accounts because there has been no 
significant change in customer credit ratings and the amounts in question are still deemed to be recoverable.

 Aging of accounts receivable past–due but recoverable

     2016  2015  2014

 60–90 days $ 20,609 $ 52,938 $ 46,087

 Greater than 90 days  45,501  54,842  64,694

   

  Total $ 66,110 $ 107,780 $ 110,781

 Change in allowance for doubtful accounts 

     2016  2015  2014

 Balance at beginning of the year $ 57,056 $ 54,583 $ 90,851

  Provision for accounts deemed 

    uncollectible during the year  19,031  15,454  13,244

  Translation effects and accounts 

    recovered during the year  2,834  (12,981)  (49,512)

   

 Balance at end of the year $ 78,921 $ 57,056 $ 54,583

 Aging of impaired accounts receivable 

     2016  2015  2014

 Over 120 days $ 78,921 $ 57,056 $ 54,583
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 Balances	as	of	 	 	 Reclassifications	 Balances as of
 December 31,   and translation December 31,
 2014 Additions Disposals effects 2015

 Investment:
  Land $ 205,580 $ – $ (2,283) $ (4,940) $ 198,357

  Building and constructions  518,994  20,782  (10,608)  3,546  532,714

  Industrial machinery 
    and equipment  385,816  16,081  (951)  (12,893)  388,053

  Office furniture 
    and equipment  48,369  3,000  (29)  (1,383)  49,957

  Vehicle  208,301  15,852  (14,684)  (46,185)  163,284

  Computers  57,135  2,764  (116)  (3,011)  56,772

  Equipment acquired 
    under financial leases  127,308  51,414  (262)  (1,262)  177,198

   Total investments  1,551,503  109,893  (28,933)  (66,128)  1,566,335

 Accumulated depreciation:
  Building and constructions  (179,480)  (27,862)  3,489  11,515  (192,338)

  Industrial machinery 
    and equipment  (216,151)  (24,603)  437  2,054  (238,263)

  Office furniture 
    and equipment  (26,129)  (2,723)  5  1,407  (27,440)

  Vehicle  (178,093)  (23,242)  11,416  14,521  (175,398)

  Computers  (28,702)  (15,927)  58  3,403  (41,168)

  Equipment acquired 
    under financial leases  (62,434)  (14,367)  7  (1,222)  (78,016)

   Total accumulated 
     depreciation  (690,989)  (108,724)  15,412  31,678  (752,623)

     

 Net investment $ 860,514 $ 1,169 $ (13,521) $ (34,450) $ 813,712

  For the year 2015, the Entity has classified “Investment property” within non–current assets because the sales effort will be managed 
over the long term. Although as of December 31, 2014, all conditions were fulfilled to classify the property within current assets, it was 
reclassified to long–term assets in the consolidated statement of financial position for comparative purposes.

 
9. ProPerty, Plant and equIPMent

 Balances	as	of	 	 	 Reclassifications	 Balances as of
 December 31,   and translation December 31,
 2015 Additions Disposals effects 2016

 Investment:
  Land $ 198,357 $ 196 $ – $ 8,442 $ 206,995

  Building and constructions  532,714  26,964  (2,557)  54,820  611,941

  Industrial machinery 
    and equipment  388,053  17,402  (10,091)  14,016  409,380

  Office furniture 
    and equipment  49,957  1,750  (122)  3,263  54,848

  Vehicle  163,284  6,502  (15,957)  35,572  189,401

  Computers  56,772  5,713  (242)  5,833  68,076

  Equipment acquired 
  under financial leases  177,198  8,597  –  1,950  187,745

   Total investments  1,566,335  67,124  (28,969)  123,896  1,728,386

 Accumulated depreciation:
  Building and constructions  (192,338)  (21,612)  863  (23,375)  (236,462)

  Industrial machinery 
    and equipment  (238,263)  (25,536)  6,397  (5,995)  (263,397)

  Office furniture 
    and equipment  (27,440)  (2,982)  108  (2,343)  (32,657)

  Vehicle  (175,398)  (37,311)  11,676  (28,130)  (229,163)

  Computers  (41,168)  (38,897)  162  12,723  (67,180)

  Equipment acquired under 
    financial leases  (78,016)  (5,556)  –  (2,707)  (86,279)

   Total accumulated 
     depreciation  (752,623)  (131,894)  19,206  (49,827)  (915,138)

     

   Net investment $ 813,712 $ (64,770) $ (9,763) $ 74,069 $ 813,248
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10. busIness CoMbInatIons

  In 2013, the Group acquired businesses that were recorded using the purchase method. The results of the acquired businesses were 
included in the consolidated financial statements since the acquisition date. The acquired businesses are as follows:

a. Subsidiaries acquired

     Proportion of shares  Consideration
   Principal activities Acquisition date acquired (%) transferred
 

 Mardupol Purchase and sale of raw materials (1) February 1, 2013 100 $ 155,227
 Coremal Purchase and sale of raw materials (2) December 31, 2013 100  492,457
    
      $ 647,684

 (1)  On February 1, 2013, the Entity completed the acquisition of Productos Químicos Mardupol, S. A. de C. V. (Mardupol), a company 
engaged in the distribution of chemicals.

 (2)  Coremal Ltda is a distributor of chemical products located in Recife, Brazil, with operations in 27 states of such country. Their 
principal offices are established in Sao Paulo, Brazil. The acquisition price was R$88,935, equivalent to $492,457 pesos, and 
was composed of an initial payment of $49,903 mexican pesos, and contingent consideration that is determined by a formula 
established in the purchase–sale agreement, the payment of which is based on the achievement of certain EBITDA margins 
during annual periods between 2014 to 2019. As of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 the liability payments have been $40,951, 
$11,857 and $104,601, respectively.

  As of December 31, 2013, the valuation of assets and liabilities assumed in connection with the acquisition of Coremal, was conducted 
using the information available at the date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements, however, certain adjustments were 
applied to such provisional amounts during the measurement period, as a result of obtaining additional information.

b.  Consideration transferred

     Mardupol  Coremal

 Consideration to be paid in cash $ 114,540 $ 442,554

 Shares   89,329  –

 Effect of receivable for selling Pochteca Brasil, Ltd.                –  49,903

 Less: Claim under the  contract  (48,642)  –

  

   Total $ 155,227 $ 492,457

	 Balances	at	the		 	 	 Reclassifications	 Balances as of
 beginning of   and translation December 31,
 2014 Additions Disposals effects 2014

 Investment:
  Land $ 214,981 $ 1,300 $ (10,753) $ 52  205,580

  Building and constructions  493,418  15,085  (5,908)  16,399  518,994

  Industrial machinery 
    and equipment  329,168  14,763  (1,508)  43,393  385,816

  Office furniture 
    and equipment  44,993  2,678  (172)  870  48,369

  Vehicle  285,571  16,662  (24,788)  (69,144)  208,301

  Computers  67,770  14,705  (127)  (25,213)  57,135

  Equipment acquired 
    under financial leases  93,472  33,836  –  –  127,308

   Total investments  1,529,373  99,029  (43,256)  (33,643)  1,551,503

 Accumulated depreciation
  Building and constructions  (157,568)  (28,103)  1,084  5,107  (179,480)

  Industrial machinery 
    and equipment  (176,509)  (27,356)  105  (12,391)  (216,151)

  Office furniture 
    and equipment  (23,389)  (3,072)  –  332  (26,129)

  Vehicle  (179,553)  (24,921)  8,072  18,309  (178,093)

  Computers  (18,314)  (11,066)  –  678  (28,702)

  Equipment acquired 
    under financial leases  (52,199)  (12,725)  2,490  –  (62,434)

   Total accumulated 
     depreciation  (607,532)  (107,243)  11,751  12,035  (690,989)

   

 Net investment $ 921,841 $ (8,214) $ (31,505) $ (21,608) $ 860,514
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 (1)  This refers to the assumed assets and liabilities of Productos Químicos Mardupol, S. A. de C. V., Servicios Corporativos Guibert, 
S. A. de C. V. and Servicios Corporativos Mardupol, S. A. de C.V. 

 (2)  As mentioned above, the valuation of the assets and liabilities assumed as of December 31, 2013 in connection with the acquisition 
of Coremal, was made using information available at such date. As of December 31, 2014, an adjustment was recorded for 
$(86,739), associated with the unpaid consideration in conformity with the terms established in the purchase–sale agreement. 
As of December 31, 2016, the assets and liabilities assumed have not changed.

e. Goodwill identified on acquisition

     Mardupol  Coremal  Total

 Acquisition consideration $ 155,227 $ 492,457 $ 647,684

 Plus: Effects of purchase accounting  transition  28,485   –  28,485

 Less: Fair value of net assets acquired   (66,557)  (253,563)  (320,120)

   

 Goodwill determined as of December 31, 2013  117,155  238,894  356,049

                  –  35,000  35,000

   

 Adjustment for measurement of contingent liabilities    –  (86,739)  (86,739)

   

 Goodwill adjusted as of December 31, 2014  117,155  187,155  304,310

   

 Translation effect  –   (39,769)  (39,769)

   

 Goodwill adjusted as of December 31, 2015 $ 117,155 $ 147,386 $ 264,541

   

 Translation effect  –  66,970  66,970

   

 Goodwill adjusted as of December 31, 2016 $ 117,155 $ 214,356 $ 331,511

 c. Adjust to contingent consideration

     Amount
 

 Balance to be paid in cash at December 31, 2014 $ 251,215

 Payments rendered in 2015  (11,857)

 Adjustment for remeasurement of contingent liability   (47,026)

 

 Balance as of December 31, 2015  192,332

 Payments rendered in 2016  (40,951)

 Translation effect  67,228

 

 Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 218,609

d. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date

     Mardupol (1)  Coremal (2)  Total

 Current Assets   

  Cash $ 3,360 $ 28,479 $ 31,839

  Accounts receivables  205,407  231,098  436,505

  Inventories  128,830  169,980  298,810

 Non–current assets   

  Plant and  equipment  31,899  230,857  262,756

  Other assets  12,271  27,183  39,454

  Intangible assets  52,233  –  52,233

 Current liabilities   

  Trade and other accounts payables   360,299  343,798  704,097

 Non–current liabilities   

  Borrowings  7,144  90,236  97,380

   

    $ 66,557 $ 253,563 $ 320,120
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12. goodwIll

     2016  2015  2014
 

 Balances at beginning of year  $ 366,097 $ 405,866 $ 457,605

 Additional amounts recognized from business 

   acquisitions that occurred during the year  –  –  35,000

 Translation effect and adjustment for measurement 

   of contingent liabilities   66,970  (39,769)  (86,739)
   

 Balances at end of year $ 433,067 $ 366,097 $ 405,866

  In 1999, Tenedora Pochteca, S. A. de C. V. (currently the Company after its merger with Dermet de México, S. A. B. de C. V.) acquired 
99.99% of the shares of Grupo Pochteca, S. A. de C. V. (currently Pochteca Papel, S. A. de C. V.) and its subsidiaries, thereby generating 
goodwill.

  The Group has not identified or recognized the impairment losses of goodwill balances recorded at December 31, 2016, 2015 and 
2014. Management did not observe any changes in the main hypotheses giving rise to goodwill impairment.

13. other aCCounts Payable and aCCrued exPenses

     2016  2015  2014
 

 Liability from Coremal purchase $ 218,609 $ 192,332 $ 251,215

 Accounts payable  65,116  100,382  82,021

 Liabilities for purchase of fixed assets (1)  –  –  24,283

 Reserves  95,345  56,532  10,899

 Other account payable  33,815  30,427  42,978
   

    $ 412,885 $ 379,673 $ 411,396

   

 Short–term $ 194,018 $ 169,606 $ 184,525

 Long–term   218,867  210,067  226,871
   

    $ 412,885 $ 379,673 $ 411,396

 (1) Short–term amounts are $31 million and $24 million, as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

f. Cash flows on acquisition of subsidiaries 

       Mardupol  Coremal

 Consideration paid in cash   $ 114,540 $ – 

 Less: cash balances acquired     (3,360)  (28,479)

  

      $ 111,180 $ (28,479)

  The acquisition of Mardupol gave to the Group a physical presence in Ciudad Obregón and Ciudad Juárez, localities where it did not 
have operations, generating additional sales of $53,494 and $40,000 plus sales at December 31, 2014 and 2013 respect. Likewise, 
Mardupol brought a portfolio of pigments and colorants and products for the agro–business, sectors which the Group had practically 
never entered, adding $31,300 and $23,000 in sales in the year 2014 and 2013 respect. The water treatment sector, where the Group 
already had a presence, was strengthened also by the portfolio of Mardupol, increasing sales by $40,000 and $44,500 at December 
31, 2014 and 2015 respect. Furthermore, the portfolio of products brought by leading suppliers such as Du Pont, Jones Hamilton, 
Eastman and Solvay helped to increase sales by $110,000 and $150,000 at December 31, 2014 and 2013 respect.

  Generally speaking, chemicals and plastic segment, which includes the great majority of the products of Mardupol, increased sales 
from $1,370,235 in 2013 to $2,664,912, in 2014. A major part of this growth was due to the increased physical presence, the additional 
portfolio of products and suppliers, and the customers that were incorporated into the operation the Group with the acquisition  
of Mardupol.

11. IntangIble asset

  In accordance with the fair value analysis of assets and liabilities acquired in connection with the acquisition of Mardupol, a supplier 
relationship intangible asset was identified:

     2016  2015  2014
 

 Supplier relationship $ 51,425 $ 51,425 $ 51,425

 PEMEX relationship  –  –  280

 Non–compete contract  99  149  198

   

 Balances at end of year  $ 51,524 $ 51,574 $ 51,903

  The supplier relationship intangible asset has an indefinite life. As of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Group recorded 
amortization of $50 and $329 related to the PEMEX relationship and the Non–compete contract.  
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     2016  2015  2014

Bank loan with Finame BNDES with Banco Itau for R$ 703,794.62 at an

  annual rate of 5.58% entered into May 2016 and maturing January 2019.  7,802  –  –
   
Leasing with IBM for R$208,645.14 at an annual rate of 1.61% entered 

  into November 2016 and maturing November 2019.  1,285  –  –
   
Leasing with Banco do Brasil for R$1,265,440 at an annual rate of 20.271% 
 plus 100% of CDI variation entered into January 2016 and maturing 

  November 2019.  7,237                –  –
 
Loan for $ 610,000 (syndicated debt with HSBC and Inbursa for $305,000
 each), rate TIIE plus a margin of 1.50% to 3.00% depending on the
 leverage ratio, with equal quarterly payments of $35,000 from March
 2016 and a final payment in December 2018 for $225,000. As of 
 December 31, 2013 the loan balance was $500,000, which was

  restructured in December 2014 to an amount of $610,000.  470,000  610,000  610,000
   
Loan with HSBC Bank for R$24,964,913 with an annual real rate of 3.70%

  plus CDI entered into  October 2013 and maturing in August 2018.  96,277  144,467  161,965
   
Lease with GE Capital Mexico of transport equipment and computers 
 in the amount of $139,430, $125,472 and $82,019 in 2016, 2015 and
 2014, respectively, at TIIE 28 days plus 3.5816% fixed rate, entered into

  February 2014 and maturing in January 2020.  45,757  79,006  69,183
   
Bank loan with Banco Itau for R$5,000,000 at an annual rate of 3.98%

  entered into in February 2015 and maturing in February 2016.  –  30,923  –
   
Bank loan with Finimp for R$1,429,842 with an annual real rate of 2.38%

  plus CDI entered into in May 2014 and maturing in August 2016.  –  21,761  8,635
   
Loan for $20,000 Mexican pesos with HSBC, TIIE rate plus a margin of

  1.50% for a term of one year   –  20,000  –
   

 

14. bank loans and long–terM debt

     2016  2015  2014

Unsecured loan with HSBC México, S.A. (HSBC), at TIIE 91 days plus
 spread of between 1.50% to 3.00% depending on the leverage ratio

  of the Group, maturing February 2017. $ 40,000 $ – $ – 

Unsecured loan with HSBC México, S.A. (HSBC), at TIIE 91 plus spread of
 between 1.50% to 3.00%, depending on the leverage ratio of the

  Group, maturing September 2017.  35,000  –  –
   
Bank loan with Banco Santander for R$4,341,708.78 at an annual rate

  of 21.24% entered into May 2016 and maturing May 2017.  30,201  –  –
   
Bank loan with Banco do Brasil for R$ 3,442,980.24 at an annual rate

  of 4.03% entered into June 2016 and maturing June 2017  21,025  –  –
 
Bank loan with Banco Itau for R$5,000,000 at an annual rate of 2.74%
 plus 100% of CDI (Interbank Deposit Certificate rate) variation

  entered into February 2016 and maturing March 2017.  19,934  –  –
   
Bank loan with Banco Itau for R$3,000,000 at an annual rate of 3.45%
 plus 100% of CDI variation entered into September 2016 and

  maturing April 2017.  19,827  –  –
   
Bank loan with Finimp com Banco Itau for R$1,429,842 at an annual
 rate of 2.20% plus CDI entered into September 2016 and maturing

  April 2017.  14,394  –  –
   
Bank loan with Banco Itau for R$2,000,000 at an annual rate of
 5.37% plus 100% of the variance of the CDI entered into June 2016

  and maturing May 2017.  12,796   –  –
   
Bank loan with Banco do Brasil for R$1,744,706.13 at an annual rate of

  4.03% entered into November 2016 and maturing April 2017.  11,523  –  –
   
Bank loan with Banco Santander for R$1,679,999.99 at an annual rate

  of 20.03% entered into June 2016 and maturing July 2017.  4,869  –  –

111 112 Pochteca / Integrated Annual Report



     2016  2015  2014

Loan with SAFRA for R$1,400,000 with an annual real rate of 10.00%

  entered into in August 2013 and maturing in June 2016.  –  71  439
   
Bank loan with Itaucard for R$14.061 at an annual rate of 16.21% entered

  into in April 2013 and maturing in March 2017.  8  30  110
 
Leasing with SAFRA for R$165.624 at an annual rate of 13.92% entered

  into in July 2013 and maturing in August 2016.  –  25  –
   
Bank loan with Aymore amounting to R$36.782 at an annual rate of 2.50% 

  plus CDI entered into in November 2014 and maturing in August 2015.  –  –  199
   
Loan with bank City de Costa Rica, S.A. for $107,331,140 colones at an
 annual rate of 6.84% entered into in April 2014 and maturing in 

  August 2015  –  –  2,606
   
Interbanco revolving line for US$107.465 with an annual rate of 8.50% 

  entered into in September 2014 and maturing in March 2015  –  –  1,584
   
Leasing with Votorantim for R$1,247,161 with an annual real rate of 12.51%

  entered into in February 2013 and maturing in August 2015.  –  –  2,391

   Bank loans  881,118  952,094  952,236
   

 Less – Unamortized commissions paid  (8,232)  (12,492)  (16,723)

     872,886  939,602  935,513

   

 Less – Current portion of long–term debt  500,911  325,279  61,525

   

 Long–term debt $ 371,975 $ 614,323 $ 873,988
  

     2016  2015  2014

Bank loan with Banco Itau for R$20,097,194 at an annual rate of 4.53%

  entered into in September 2012 and maturing in December 2017.  14,124  14,873  41,477
   
Leasing with Volvo for R$35.893 at an annual rate of 4.40% entered into

  in May 2013 and maturing in December 2020.  10,417  8,932  6,311
 

Loan with Banco do Brasil for R$15,230,768 at an annual rate of 10.17%

  entered into in June 2012 and maturing in August 2017  4,692  8,065  23,218
   
Bank loan with Banco Itau for R$1,800,000 reais at an annual rate
 of 3.98% plus 100% of CDI variation entered into in December 2015

  and maturing in December 2016.  11,450  7,855  –
   
Leasing with Banco Fidis with different annual interest rates and

  different maturity dates.  1,014  2,524  7,202
   
Leasing with Mercedes Benz for R$69.606 at an annual rate of 3.50% 

  entered into in December 2014 and maturing in November 2018.  948  1,134  4,456
   

Bank loan with Banco Brasil S.A. for R$30,000 at an annual rate of 5.50%

  entered into in August 2013 and maturing in July 2017  –  1,089  185
   

Santander Bank loan for R$9,695,584 with an annual real rate of 10.25%

  entered into in October 2013 and maturing in October 2017.  496  668  11,303
   

Leasing with Mercedes Benz for R$94.570 at an annual rate of 3.50%

  entered into in February 2010 and maturing in December 2017.  –  460  606
   
Leasing with Banco do Brasil for an amount of R$93,804 at an annual

  rate of 7.00% entered into in July 2012 and maturing in July 2017.  42  114  –
   

Leasing with IBM for R$201.098 at an annual rate of 14.84% entered

  into in November 2013 and maturing in June 2016.  –  97  366
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  –  The Entity must not declare or pay dividends or distributions to its stockholders (including the reimbursement or amortization of 
shares) for an annual amount exceeding the equivalent of 10% of the consolidated earnings before financing, interest, depreciation 
and amortization (EBITDA) of the immediately preceding year.

  As of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, these restrictions have been complied with. Maturities of long term–debt at December 31, 
2015, are:

  Year ended as
  of December 31,  Amount
 

  2018 $ 366,627

  2019  5,130

  2020  218

 

   $ 371,975

15. eMPloyee benefIts

  Net period cost for obligations resulting from the pension plan, severance payments and seniority premiums was $1,194, $1,118 and 
$906 in 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Other disclosures required under IFRS are not considered important.

 

16. stoCkholders’ equIty

  On an annual basis, the shareholders of the Group determine the maximum amount to be earmarked for repurchase of shares, 
without exceeding the amount of the retained earnings at that date, refunding to retained earnings any previously authorized amount 
that has not been exercised. As of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 the Entity maintained 2,178,700, 3,038,041 and 2,344,486 
shares in treasury, respectively. Sales of shares made after the approval of the shareholders, increase the balance of the unused 
reserve, which relate to investments made in prior periods of amounts authorized by the Assembly.

  I.  The Stockholders’ Ordinary General Meeting of April 28, 2016 resolved to establish:

   •  A maximum amount of $30,000 that the Entity may allocate to the purchase of its own shares or securities representing 
such shares, on the understanding that the acquisition and placement of shares will be made through the Bolsa Mexicana de 
Valores, S. A. B. de C. V. at market price.

 II.  The common stock of the trust is represented by shares subscribed by investment and administration trust number F/147, which 
was created for the stock option plan for key executives. At December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the outstanding portion payable 
by executives is $7,884, $11,097 and $15,032, respectively, which is presented in stockholders’ equity as shares held in trust. The 
value of contributed capital has therefore been reduced by this amount.

 The TIIE rates as of December 31, are as follows:

     2016  2015  2014
 

 TIIE   6.110%  3.320%  3.790%

a  Refinancing of syndicated debt –  On December 3, 2014, the Group entered into a refinancing agreement for the syndicated loan 
with HSBC and Grupo Financiero Inbursa, in which the following major changes were made: 1) to restore the maturity date of the 
loan to December 3,2018; 2) to remove Grupo Pochteca, S.A.B. de C.V. as creditor and to leave only PMP and PP as creditors, 3) to 
refinance the loan for $ 610,000, of which HSBC and Inbursa provide an equal amount for $305,000 and 4) modify the obligations of 
do and not do. In order to give effect to the refinancing of the credit, HSBC and Inbursa required the payment of accrued interest and 
principal generated at that date, so that the creditors could again the loan up to $ 610,000 to the borrowers. 

b.  As of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, in accordance with the syndicated loan agreement with Banco Inbursa, S. A. and HSBC 
México the Entity is subject to certain obligations, restrictions and covenants, of which the most important are:

 
  –  The following financial ratios must be maintained at all times:

  –  Interest Rate Hedge Ratio. An Interest Rate Hedge Ratio a) greater than 2.0 to 1.0 from the Close Date until and including June 30, 
2015; and b) greater than 2.5 to 1.0 from and including December 31, 2015 and c) greater than 3.0 to 1.0 from and including January 
1, 2016 from and including the maturity date.

  –  Leverage Ratio. A Leverage Ratio of (a) less than 2.5 to 1.0 from the close date until and including March 31, 2015; (b) less than 2.75 
to 1.0 from and including April 1, 2015 until and including December 31, 2015; and (c) less than 2.5 to 1.0 from and including January 
1, 2016 until and including the maturity date.

  –  Stockholders’ Equity. Consolidated stockholders’ equity of at least $900,000.

  –  The Entity must not sell, encumber, transfer, lease or in any other way dispose of its goods, rights or any other assets without the 
prior written consent of the Agent.

  –  The Entity must not merge with third parties, split, transform itself or modify its common stock, corporate purpose or business 
activity in such a way as to generate a Substantial Adverse Change without the prior written authorization of the Agent.

  –  The Entity must not create, grant or permit mortgages, pledges, trusts, distrait or any other kind of encumbrance or actual or 
personal guarantee in any place or to any extent as regards the entity, its goods, rights and other assets (except for acts performed 
during the normal course of business).

  –  The obligors Pochteca Materias Primas, S. A. de C. V. (PMP) and Pochteca Papel, S. A. de C. V. (PP) must not perform transactions 
involving derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes or for reasons other than hedging.
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17. fInanCIal InstruMents

 Capital risk management

  The Group manages its capital to ensure that will continue as a going concern, while also maximizing the return to its stockholders 
through optimization of its debt amounts and capital structure. The Group is not under any type of restrictions imposed externally on 
respect of its capital administration.

  The Group’s management reviews its capital structure when it presents its financial projections as part of the business plan to the 
Entity’s Board of Directors and shareholders. 

 Debt ratios

  The Board of Directors regularly reviews the Group’s capital structure. As part of this review, it considers the cost of capital and the 
risks associated with each capital type.

 The leverage ratio at the end of each of the periods is the following:

     2016  2015  2014

 Cash and cash equivalents $ 144,799 $ 385,672 $ 324,458

 Debt   872,886  939,602  935,513

 Net debt  728,087  553,930  611,055

 Stockholders’ equity  1,231,136  1,152,272  1,170,667
   

 Index of net debt and equity  59.14%  48.07%  52.20%

 The debt includes long–term debt and current portion.

 Categories of financial instruments

     2016  2015  2014

 Financial assets:   
  Cash $ 144,799 $ 385,672 $ 324,458
  Loans and account receivable  987,742   928,990  950,585
   

 Financial liabilities:   

  Liabilities at amortized cost $ 2,199,265 $ 2,359,154 $ 2,364,878

  III.  During 2015, The Entity created a Trust referred to as F/34. The Trust assets are comprised of the shares to be subscribed 
by investments trust management number F/34, for an amount up to $21,105 for the share purchase option plan for key 
executives. Trust grantors comprise several subsidiaries, the trustee is Banco Ve por Más, Sociedad Anónima, Institución de 
Banca Múltiple, Grupo Financiero Ve por Más as trustee and the trust beneficiaries include several executives. As of December 
31, 2016, shares have not been assigned to beneficiaries of this trust. The shares to be acquired represent the capital of Grupo 
Pochteca, S. A. B. de C. V.

 IV. Common stock without par value as of December 31, is as follows:

     Number of

     Shares Amount

  Fixed capital

   Series “B”     9,487,842  $  80,304

    

  Fixed capital

   Series “B”      121,034,207    1,024,417

    

  Total      130,522,049  $  1,104,721

 V.  Mexican General Corporate Law requires that at least 5% of net income of the year be transferred to the legal reserve until the 
reserve equals 20% of capital stock at par value (historical pesos). The legal reserve may be capitalized but may not be distributed 
unless the entity is dissolved.  The legal reserve must be replenished if it is reduced for any reason. As of December 31, 2016, 2015 
and 2014, the Group has not set aside any amount to create such reserve.

 VI.  Stockholders’ equity, except for restated paid–in capital and tax retained earnings, will be subject to ISR payable by the Entity at 
the rate in effect upon distribution. Any tax paid on such distribution may be credited against annual and estimated ISR of the year 
in which the tax on dividends is paid and the following two fiscal years.

   Dividends paid from profits generated as of January 1, 2014 in Mexico resident and resident individuals abroad, may be subject to 
additional income tax of up to 10%, which should be retained by the Group.
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comprehensive income by the same amount. The monetary items related to Brazilian reals and Guatemalan quetzales are presented 
as available–for–sale; as the related exchange rate fluctuations are presented within discontinued operations, the Entity does not 
prepare a sensitivity analysis for these foreign currencies.

  Interest rate risk

  The Entity is exposed to an interest rate risk based on loan interest rates because its subsidiaries obtain loans at variable interest 
rates (primarily the TIIE and LIBOR rates, although the latter is no longer relevant) which, represent approximately 86% at December 
31, 2016 and 65% for 2015 and 2014, of the total debt contracted by the Entity. However, it minimizes this risk by providing follow–up 
on rate behavior, seeking variable rates when the rate is stable and following a downward trend and fixed rates when an upward trend 
is present.

  Sensitivity analysis

  The following sensitivity analyses are determined by considering the exposure of the interest rates contracted for derivative and 
non–derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period. In the case of variable–rate liabilities, the Group prepares an analysis 
based on the assumption that the liability in effect at the end of the reporting period was also in effect throughout the year.

  At the time the key management personnel are informed internally on the interest rates risk, an increase or decrease of 100 basis 
points is used, which represents management’s assessment of the possible reasonable change in interest rates.  If the interest rates 
had been 100 basis points above/below and all the other variables remain constant:

     2016  2015  2014
 

 Total debt at variable rates $ 872,886 $ 939,602 $ 935,513

 Variable interest expense  76,544  78,635  77,696

 Financial cost of debt percentage  8.77%  8.37%  8.31%

 Sensitivity to + 100 base points  85,281  88,041  87,096

 Sensitivity to –100 base points  67,823  69,249  68,386

 Credit risk management

  The credit risk is that which arises when one of the parties defaults on its contractual obligations, resulting in a financial loss for the 
Entity. The Group has adopted a policy of only becoming involved with solvent parties and obtaining sufficient guarantees, when 
appropriate, as a form of mitigating the risk of the financial loss caused by defaults.

  In order to administer the credit risk, the Group’s policy focuses on the investigation and subsequent selection of customers based 
on their reputation and economic solvency, assignment of credit limits and obtaining guarantees through the subscription of credit 
instruments, assets to debt ratio, pledges and mortgage guarantees duly supported by the legal representative and personal collateral.

 Fair value of financial instruments

 The fair value of financial assets and short–term liabilities is similar to its carrying amount.

 The fair value of the syndicated debt with HSBC and Inbursa is as follows:

 2016 2015 2014
  Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

 $ 470,000 $ 470,000 $ 610,000 $ 576,560 $ 610,000 $ 577,816

 Financial risk management objectives

  The Group’s Treasury function provides services to the business, co–ordinates access to domestic and international financial 
markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Entity through internal risk reports which analyses 
exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price 
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Both financial risk management and the use of derivative financial instruments and non–derivative 
are governed by the policies of the Group.

 
  The Group minimize the negative effects of these risks by using different strategies. According to the Group’s statutes, it is prohibited 

to hire any kind of financing. Internal auditors periodically review compliance with policies and exposure limits. The Group does not 
subscribe or trade financial instruments for speculative or hedging purposes. 

  Market risk

  The market risk refers to the erosion of cash flows, income and the value of assets and capital due to adverse changes in market 
prices, interest and exchange rates.

  The Group’s activities expose it to different risks, primarily exchange rate and financial risks derived from interest rate fluctuations. 
The Group exposure to market risks or the manner in which the latter are managed and measured have not changed significantly.

  Exchange rate risk

  The Group is exposed to exchange rate risks based on the balances of monetary assets and liabilities recognized in the consolidated 
statements of changes in financial position denominated in foreign currency (US dollars, Brazilian reals and Guatemalan quetzales). 

  Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

  If the Mexican peso – US dollar exchange rate had increased by $1 peso and all other variables had remained constant, the Entity’s 
profit after tax at December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 would have been adversely affected by the amount of $51,923, $101,188 
and $82,979, respectively. However, a decrease of $1 under the same circumstances would have positively affected the Entity’s 

119 120 Pochteca / Integrated Annual Report



  December 31, 2014  

 Less than 1 year 1–2 years 3–5 years Total

 Bank loans   $ 61,525 $ 105,081 $ 768,907 $ 935,513
 Suppliers    1,193,008  –  –  1,193,008
 Other account payable    181,525  54,357  172,514  408,396
 Related parties    9,486  –  –  9,486
    
      $ 1,445,544 $ 159,438 $ 941,421 $ 2,546,403

18. fInanCIal derIvatIves

  The Group uses financial derivatives in the form of cross currency swaps (CCS) and exchange rate forwards and exchange rate 
options as hedges to protect itself from exposure to variations in the BRL/USD exchange rate generated by the payment of the 
coupons (interest) and the current principal of the credit executed with HSBC for an amount of up to US $8,494,733.

 As of December 31, 2015, the fair value of the aforementioned transactions is as follows:

     Rate payable Notional
     and exchange amount
 Instrument Counterparty Starting date Maturity rate agreed in USD Fair value

 Currecncy swap Itau February 2, 2016 February 2, 2017 CDI + 3.25% 750,263 $ (3,941)

 Currecncy swap Itau February 5, 2015 February 2, 20167 CDI + 3.25% 517,424 $ (2,267)

 Currecncy swap  Itau September 15, 2016 March 14, 2017 CDI + 5.20% 740,082 $ (929)

 Forward Banco Do Brasil June 28, 2016 June 21, 2017 3.6459 1,040,262 $ (2,415)

 Forward Banco Do Brasil November 3, 2016 April 27, 2017 3.3897 565,627 $ (452)

 Currecncy swap  HSBC September 30, 20165 August 27, 2018 CDI + 2.00% 6,067,666 $ (29,336)

  The Group has designated the aforementioned financial derivatives under the fair value model (currency swaps) and cash flow hedges 
(exchange rate option), as permitted by IFRS, and has formally documented each hedge transaction, by establishing management 
objectives and strategy to cover the risk, and identify the hedge instrument, the item hedged, the nature of the risk to be hedged and 
the evaluation methodology for effectiveness.

  As of December 31, 2016, the effectiveness of these hedges is high, because the changes in fair value and the cash flows from the 
primary position are offset in a range of between 80% and 125%. The results of the prospective and retrospective tests at the end of 
the year was of 99% and 99%, respectively.

 

  Furthermore, follow–up is provided on the collection and recoveries of overdue debts based on their aging parameters, so as to timely 
identify doubtful accounts. Bad debts are sent to the attorneys for collection records. 

 The credit limits are revised constantly on a case–by–case basis.

 Liquidity risk management 

  The liquidity risk is the situation whereby the Group is unable to fulfill obligations associated with financial liabilities settled through 
the delivery of cash or another financial asset. The Group’s debt acquisition policy is very conservative. The Entity constantly monitors 
the maturity of its liabilities, together with the cash needed for transactions. Detailed monthly cash flow analyses are prepared and 
presented to the board of directors. Operating cash flows are controlled on a daily basis. Decisions regarding the obtainment of new 
financing are only made for expansion and growth projects.

  The objective of debt management is to obtain long–term financing for contracted short–term debts. Accordingly, when assets are 
acquired and become productive, short–term debt is settled, while the cash flows needed to cover long–term debt are obtained 
through acquired investment properties.

  The maturity of long–term debt and the current portion thereof and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 as the 
transition date is as follows:

  December 31, 2016

 Less than 1 year 1–2 years 3–5 years Total

 Bank loans   $ 500,911 $ 366,627 $ 5,348 $ 872,886
 Suppliers    1,100,641  –  –  1,100,641
 Other accounts payable    194,018  39,879  178,988  412,885
 Related parties    6,871    –               –  6,871
    
      $ 1,802,441 $ 406,506 $ 184,336 $ 2,393,283

 

  December 31, 2015  

 Less than 1 year 1–2 years 3–5 years Total

 Bank loans   $ 325,279 $ 282,727 $ 331,596 $ 939,602
 Suppliers    1,199,576  –  –  1,199,576
 Other accounts payable    169,606  56,972  153,095  379,673
 Related parties    9,909  –  –  9,909
    
      $ 1,704,370 $ 339,699 $ 484,691 $ 2,528,760
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c. Transactions with related parties made in the normal course of business, were as follows:

     2016  2015  2014

 Mexichem Derivados, S.A. de C.V.:   
  Sales $ 3,530 $ 2,228 $ 481
  Purchases  (1,457)  (1,357)  (927)
   

 Quimir, S.A. de C.V.:   
  Sales  16  547  1,608
  Purchases  (43,548)  (45,838)  (39,430)
   

 Mexichem Flúor, S.A. de C.V.:   
  Sales  18,960  10,431  10,822
  Purchases  (732)  (1,862)  (1,539)
   

 Mexichem Resinas Vinílicas, S.A. de C.V.:   
  Sales  5,650  1,995  995
   

 Mexichem Soluciones Integrales, S.A. de C.V.:   
  Sales  747  197  92
   

 Mexichem Compuestos, S.A. de C.V.:   
  Sales  3,082  3,038  2,704
  Purchases  (3,411)  (3,906)  (7,415)
   

 Mexichem Servicios Administrativos, S.A. de C.V.:   
  Administrative services paid  (2,510)  (2,038)  (2,158)
   

 Kaluz, S.A. de C.V.:   
  Administrative services paid  –  (23)                – 
   

    $ (19,673) $ (36,588) $ (34,767)

20. net sales

     2016  2015  2014

 Chemicals and lubricants $ 5,597,580 $ 5,536,702 $ 5,437,091

 Paper   541,693  542,117  594,849

   

    $ 6,139,273 $ 6,078,819 $ 6,031,940

  The fair value of the currency swaps is $36,472,912 mexican pesos, recorded as a liability with a change in the financial statement of 
income and the fair value of the covered transactions amount $36,725,264 mexican pesos which was recorded as a charge to the 
debt against a credit to the income statement. Because there are small differences between the hedging instrument and the hedged 
item, there is an ineffective portion of $252,352 mexican pesos that is recorded as income in the statement of income (the difference 
between the fair value of hedging instruments and the covered ones).

 
  The method used to measure effectiveness is the “ratio analysis” based on a hypothetical derivative; such method consists of 

comparing the changes in the fair value of the hedge instrument with the changes in the fair value of the hypothetical derivative which 
would result in a perfect hedge of the item covered.

  As of December 31, 2016, the fair value of the forwards was $2,866,436 mexican pesos recorded as a liability against a charge in other 
comprehensive income. The effect recognized in equity was $2,863,649 mexican pesos and the effect reclassified to the statement 
of income as an ineffective portion was $2,787. The period in which the cash flow recognized in equity is expected to occur and impact 
the statement of income in April and June of 2017 because it is when the forwards expire.

19. balanCes and transaCtIons wIth related PartIes

a. Balance due from related parties are:

     2016  2015  2014
 

 Mexichem Flúor, S.A. de C.V. $ 4,455 $ 1,983 $ 4,996

 Mexichem Resinas Vinílicas, S.A. de C.V.  2,321  323  136

 Mexichem Soluciones Integrales,  S.A. de C.V.  176  50  –

 Mexichem Derivados, S.A. de C.V.  529                –                –

   

    $ 7,481 $ 2,356 $ 5,132

b. Balance due to related parties are:

     2016  2015  2014
 

 Quimir, S.A. de C.V. $ 5,671 $ 8,620 $ 7,799
 Mexichem Derivados, S.A. de C.V.  –  –  109
 Mexichem Servicios Administrativos, S.A. de C.V.  490  138  289
 Mexichem Compuestos, S.A. de C.V.  710  1,151  1,289
   
    $ 6,871 $ 9,909 $ 9,486
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a. Income taxes (benefit) expense recognized are as follows:

     2016  2015  2014

 ISR:   
  Current tax $ 18,225 $ 11,535 $ 8,742
  Deferred tax  (27,325)  (14,748)  4,388
   
    $ (9,100) $ (3,213) $ 13,130

b. The main items originating a deferred ISR tax assets are:

     2016  2015  2014

 Deferred ISR asset:   
  Tax loss carryforwards $ 37,012 $ 24,461 $ 12,550
  Provisions  39,164  28,932  27,402

   Deferred ISR asset  76,176  53,393  39,952
   
 Deferred ISR liability:   
  Property, plant and equipment  (4,647)  (300)  (6,455)
  Other assets  (47)  (10,680)  (5,090)
  Inventories, net  (2,005)  (261)  (1,003)

   Deferred tax liability  (6,699)  (11,241)  (12,548)
   

 Total assets $ 69,477 $ 42,152 $ 27,404

c.  The reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate and the effective rate expressed as a percentage of income (loss) before income 
taxes (benefit on income) is as follows:

     2016  2015  2014
 

 Statutory rate  30%  30%  30%
   

 Plus the effect of permanent differences mainly 
   non–deductible expenses    9%  8%  39%
 Add (less) – effects of inflation  22%  (9%)  5%
 Less tax deduction portfolio    (20%)       –

 Plus (less) – recognition of previously unrecognized benefits   –  (20%)  – 
   
 Effective rate  61%  (11%)  74%

21. Cost of sales

     2016  2015  2014

 Inventories consumed $ 4,846,153 $ 4,806,422 $ 4,860,470

 Freight   178,100  150,932  99,911

 Other   39,748  15,499  20,116

   

    $ 5,064,001 $ 4,972,853 $ 4,980,497

22. oPeratIng exPenses

     2016  2015  2014

 Payroll  $ 482,967 $ 491,048 $ 452,779

 Depreciation and amortization  131,944  118,269  107,572

 Operations  60,543  99,915  78,991

 Leasing  55,605  42,472  44,898

 Telephone and systems  27,946  27,932  26,400

 Maintenance  22,584  24,408  20,997

 Fees   67,056  51,575  72,627

 Other   110,468  27,450  51,745

   

    $ 959,113 $ 883,069 $ 856,009

23. InCoMe taxes

  The Group is subject to ISR. The rate of current income is 30%.

  ISR – Under the new Income Tax Act 2014 (Act 2014) the rate was 30% for 2016, 2015 and 2014 and continue at 30% for the 
following years.

  Tax regime in other countries –  The ISR of foreign subsidiaries is caused by the rules of the law of income tax of those countries. 
In Brazil, the statutory tax rate for corporations is 34%
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  Year Amount
 

  2017 $ 49,569

  2018  43,090

  2019  36,628

  2020  32,630

  2021  16,647

  2021 and thereafter  69,485
 

   $ 248,049

26. busIness segMent InforMatIon

 Business segment information of the Group is as follows:

 2016 2015 2014

 Chemical   Chemical   Chemical 
 products Paper products Paper products Paper

 Statement of income:
  Net sales $ 5,597,580 $ 541,693 $ 5,536,702 $ 542,117 $ 5,437,091 $ 594,849

  Depreciation $ 120,295 $ 11,649 $ 107,719 $ 10,550 $ 96,965 $ 10,607

  Operating income $ 105,914 $ 10,245 $ 203,019 $ 19,878 $ 176,161 $ 19,273

  Finance costs $ (119,373) $ (11,560) $ (175,395) $ (17,173) $ (160,248) $ (17,532)

  Consolidated net income $ (5,174) $ (500) $ 30,551 $ 2,991 $ 4,078 $ 446

 Balance sheet:
  Total assets $ 3,338,361 $ 322,925 $ 3,373,503 $ 330,311 $ 3,392,829 $ 371,195

  Total liabilities $ 2,215,593 $ 214,557 $ 2,323,992 $ 227,550 $ 2,337,609 $ 255,748

 Statement of cash flows:
  Operation activities $ 77,274 $ 7,475 $ 240,658 $ 23,564 $ 284,698 $ 31,148

  Investment activities $ (73,336) $ (7,094) $ (51,454) $ (5,038) $ (140,049) $ (15,322)

  Financing activities $ (232,867) $ (22,526) $ (61,823) $ (6,053) $ 7,676 $ 840

d.  The benefits from tax loss carryforwards for which the deferred ISR asset has been recognized, can be recovered subject to certain 
conditions. The years of maturity and restated amounts to December 31, 2016, are:

  Year of Tax loss
  expiration carryforwards
 

  2024 $ 41,835

  2025 $ 81,538

 

   $ 123,373

24. non–Cash transaCtIons 

  During the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on April 28, 2016, section VI, a ceiling in the reserve for repurchase of own shares 
was approved for an amount of $30,000, this is the maximum amount that the Group will be able to pay for repurchase of own shares 
or credit titles that depicts them, on the understanding, that the acquisition and placement of own shares concerned, were realized 
by the Group through Bolsa Mexicana de Valores, S. A. B. de C. V. the affecting the accumulated results of the Group by an amount of 
$43,340 to cancel the remaining reserve amount and record then the $30,000.

  During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Group acquired equipment for a value of $10,964, $33,811 and 
$33,836 through a financing lease. This acquisition is being reflected in the cash flow statements over the life of the leases through 
the payment of the rentals.

  On December 30, 2016, the Group received a payment in kind of a real property with a value of $2,333. Such amounts refer to the 
collection of an account which the group had with Solquimia Mexicana, S. A. de C. V. At the date of the payment in kind the account 
was $401. As the Group has no plans to make use of this property, the Group’s management has approved its classification as 
available for sale, for which reason it is recorded under the heading of long–term assets.

  On May, 6, 2016, the Group executed a non–compete agreement with Distribuidora VEM, S. A. de C. V. for $873, which is part of a 
termination agreement of a Group’s account receivable for $1,269.

25. CoMMItMents

  The Entity leases the building where corporate offices are located and some branch offices. The rental expense amounted to  
$55,605, $42,472 and 444,898 as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The lease agreements have mandatory terms 
from 1 to 15 years and set the following minimum payments:

127 128 Pochteca / Integrated Annual Report



 Information on geographical area of the Entity is presented below:

 2016 2015 2014

 Mexico Brazil Mexico Brazil Mexico Brazil

 Net sales $ 4,560,302 $ 1,578,971 $ 4,484,645 $ 1,594,174 $ 4,482,659 $ 1,549,281

 Total assets $ 2,685,580 $ 978,706 $ 3,165,318 $ 538,496 $ 3,207,981 $ 556,043

 Total liabilities $ 1,434,037 $ 996,113 $ 2,041,979 $ 509,563 $ 2,076,732 $ 516,625

27. subsequent events 

  On March 30, 2017, Pochteca Materias Primas, S. A. de .C. V and Pochteca Papel, S. A. de C. V., subsidiaries of the Group, executed 
a simple credit agreement for $875 million with the following institutions HSBC México, S. A., Insititución de Banca Múltiple, Grupo 
Financiero HSBC, Banco Inbursa, S. A., Insitutción de Banca Múltiple, Grupo Financiero Inbursa, Scotiabank Inverlat, S. A., Institución de 
Banca Múltiple, Grupo Financiero Soctiabank Inverlat, and BBVA Bancomer, S. A., Institución de Banca Múltiple and Grupo Financiero 
BBVA Bancomer within a 4 year period, at the TIIE 91 days plus a spread between 175 basis points to 350 basis points.

28.  aPProval of the IssuanCe of ConsolIdated fInanCIal stateMents

   On April 12, 2017, the issuance of the accompanying consolidated financial statements was authorized by Armando Santacruz, Chief 
Executive Officer; consequently they do not reflect events occurred after that date.  These consolidated financial statements are 
subject to the approval of the Audit Committee and General Ordinary Stockholders’ Meeting, where they may be modified, based on 
provisions set forth in the Mexican General Corporate Law.

* * * * * *

This year we are presenting our third sustainability report and the second integrated, under the Global 
Reporting Initiative’s G4 guidelines. This year’s sustainability report has not been externally verified.

The sustainability information includes the results of the activities of our operations in Mexico regarding 
social and environmental issues based on the material aspects identified as part of our materiality in 2015, 
and the financial information includes the results of our operations in Mexico, Central America and Brazil.

This information corresponds to the period between January 1 and December 31, 2016, and we present 
the report on a yearly basis. 

We also provide an online report for the convenience of our readers and a social responsibility site where 
you can find more information about the company, and both our financial and sustainability results.
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